# **COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT**

# **BETWEEN**:

**EVERGREEN HOME FOR SPECIAL CARE,** Kentville, Nova Scotia (hereinafter referred to as the "Employer")

**OF THE FIRST PART** 

- and -

# **NOVA SCOTIA GOVERNMENT AND GENERAL EMPLOYEES UNION.** (hereinafter referred to as the "Union")

OF THE SECOND PART

November 1, 2021- October 31, 2024

# Contents

PREAMBLE	1
ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS	1
ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION*	3
ARTICLE 3 - UNION SECURITY AND REPRESENTATION	4
ARTICLE 4 - LABOUR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	6
ARTICLE 5 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	7
ARTICLE 6 - NO DISCRIMINATION	7
ARTICLE 7 - NO STRIKE/LOCKOUT	8
ARTICLE 8 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	8
ARTICLE 9 – ARBITRATION	11
ARTICLE 10 - OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY	12
ARTICLE 11 – SENIORITY	
ARTICLE 12 - JOB POSTING	
ARTICLE 13 - LAYOFF AND RECALL	. 16
ARTICLE 14 - PAYMENT OF WAGES	
ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK*	
ARTICLE 16 – OVERTIME	
ARTICLE 17 – VACATIONS*	
ARTICLE 18 – HOLIDAYS*	
ARTICLE 19 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE	
ARTICLE 20 – PREGNANCY/BIRTH, PARENTAL AND ADOPTION LEAVES*	
ARTICLE 21 - BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	. 42
ARTICLE 22 - SICK LEAVE*	
ARTICLE 23 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD.	. 46
ARTICLE 24 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE	
ARTICLE 25 - NEW JOB CLASSIFICATIONS	
ARTICLE 26 – BENEFIT PLANS	
ARTICLE 27 - MISCELLANEOUS CONDITIONS*	. 48
ARTICLE 28 – TWENTY-FIVE YEAR INCREMENT*	
ARTICLE 29 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT*	
ARTICLE 30 - BENEFIT AND BINDING*	
APPENDIX "A" – WAGES	
APPENDIX "B"	
PART-TIME EMPLOYEES - AVAILABILITY FORM	
APPENDIX "C"*	
EDUCATION PREMIUMS*	
LPN Practice Premium*	62

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT*	. 65
LPN Change of Shift Schedule/Department Assignment*	. 65
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT*	. 66
CCA and PCW Change of Shift Schedule/Department Assignment*	. 66

Note: Those Articles that are marked with an asterisk (\*) indicate a change in language.

### PREAMBLE

WHEREAS the primary purpose and concern of the Employer is to provide high quality service to the residents through the staff;

AND WHEREAS it is clear that at all times and under all circumstances the primary, chief and main consideration is the welfare of the residents;

AND WHEREAS it is the intention of both parties to this Agreement:

- (1) To maintain and improve harmonious relations which have led to the signing of this Collective Agreement.
- (2) To encourage efficiency in operations.
- (3) To promote the morale, well being and security of all employees in the Bargaining Unit.
- (4) To recognize the mutual value of joint discussions through the Labour-Management Committee and Joint Health and Safety Committee in matters relating to employment conditions.

NOW WITNESSETH THAT the parties hereto agree as follows:

# **ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS**

- 1.01 (a) "Employer" means Evergreen Home For Special Care, Kentville, Nova Scotia.
  - (b) "Union" means Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union.
  - (c) "Parties" means the signatories to this Collective Agreement.
  - (d) **"Collective Agreement"** means this Collective Agreement and the Articles and Appendices contained herein.
  - (e) **"Employee**" means an employee of the Employer included in the bargaining unit, unless the context requires otherwise.
  - (f) **"Casual Employee"** is an employee who is employed on an irregular or unscheduled basis. This Collective Agreement does not apply to casual employees and such employees are not part of the bargaining unit.

(g) "Temporary" is an employment relationship for an employee in a position designated to be in excess of fifteen (15) consecutive working days but is not regular. A Casual Employee filling a temporary position shall not accumulate seniority. A Casual Employee filling a Temporary position shall qualify, subject to eligibility, for other benefits of this Collective Agreement on a proportionate basis to the regular hours paid in a year.

Notwithstanding the above, should the employment relationship change from Temporary to Regular without a break in employment, the employment date shall be the most recent date on which the employee began working in a Temporary employment relationship.

Regular employees, working in Temporary positions, will continue to be covered under the Collective Agreement as a Regular employee. Upon completion of the Temporary position, the Regular employee will be returned to their former position.

Temporary positions and Temporary employment relationships may be terminated at any time at the sole discretion of the Employer. Where the Employer terminates a Temporary position or employment relationship, the Employer shall endeavour to give at least two (2) weeks prior notice but in any event shall give as much notice as is reasonably practicable in the circumstances.

- (h) **"Full-Time Employee"** is an employee who is regularly scheduled to work and who works the hours prescribed in Article 15.
- (i) "Part-Time Employee" -- means one who is regularly scheduled to work but who works less than the hours of a full-time employee set out in Article 15.
- (j) **"Paid Hours"** means those hours actually worked by full-time or part-time employees (excluding overtime hours) and including hours paid for vacation, holidays and sick leave.
- (k) **"Job Requirements"** means the skills, qualification, abilities, experience, reliability, knowledge and training to perform all of the required functions of the work as determined by the Employer.
- (I) "Standard Working Day" means eight (8) hours for employees who normally work eight (8) or more hours. Employees who normally work less than eight (8) hours, shall have their standard work day as the average work day in the preceding month.

- (m) "Spouse" means a legal marriage partner or a live-in partner in a Common-Law Relationship identified in writing to the Employer. This includes a same-sex partner for the purposes of family oriented benefits except where a benefit plan contemplates otherwise.
- (n) **"Seniority"** subject to Article 11 and Article 23, seniority is the length of employment in the bargaining unit commencing with the employee's most recent date of hire.
- 1.02 **"Gender Neutral"** The Union and the Employer support the right to gender expression: therefore, the provisions of this Agreement are intended to be gender neutral wherever possible and will be interpreted on that basis. Changes to create gender-neutral language in this Agreement are not intended to change the substantive meaning of any Article. Wherever the singular or plural is used in this Agreement, the same will be constructed as meaning the plural or singular if the context requires, unless otherwise specifically stated.

# ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION\*

2.01 (a) Pursuant to Nova Scotia Labour Relations Board Order No. 6022, dated September 16, 2005, the Employer recognizes the Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the bargaining unit of all full-time, part-time employees of Evergreen Home for Special Care, Kentville, Nova Scotia ("the Employer"), as described in the Order of the Nova Scotia Labour Relations Board of June 19, 1992 (L.R.B. No. 4017) but excluding those persons excluded by paragraphs (a) and (b) of subsection (2) of Section 2 of the *Trade Union Act*, and excluding:

Administrator	Co-ordinator - Quality Assurance/Risk Management
Director of Volunteers	Director of Dietary
Director of Housekeeping/Laund	dry Director of Nursing
Director of Maintenance	Director of Recreation
Food Service Supervisor	Nursing Co-ordinator - Children Centre
Assistant Director of Nursing	Office Employees
Physiotherapist	Consulting Pharmacist
Speech Therapist	-
Child Development Co-ordinato	r – Children Centre

2.01\* (b) The parties agree that the classification "Registered Nurses" is to be removed from the exclusions list set out in Article 2.01 (a) and is to be included in the bargaining unit effective, November 2021.

- 2.02 This Collective Agreement is applicable to full-time and part-time employees.
- 2.03 Persons who work as Volunteers are excluded from the application of this Agreement.
- 2.04 This Collective Agreement is applicable on a <u>pro rata</u> basis to regular part-time employees except that the following benefits shall be on the terms indicated:

Pregnancy Leave - As per the Labour Standards Code.

- 2.05 This Collective Agreement is applicable on a <u>pro rata</u> basis to temporary employees except that the following benefits shall be on the terms indicated:
  - (1) Holiday Pay As per Labour Standards Code;
  - (2) Pregnancy Leave As per Labour Standards Code.

# **ARTICLE 3 - UNION SECURITY AND REPRESENTATION**

- 3.01 All employees covered by this Collective Agreement shall become and remain members of the Union.
- 3.02 The Employer shall deduct from each bargaining unit employee's salary all dues levied from time to time by the Union on its members.
- 3.03 The amount of dues deducted shall be determined by the Union. The Union shall provide the Employer with sixty (60) calendar days advance notice of any change in the amount of such deductions.
- 3.04 Deductions made pursuant to this Article shall be made from each payroll. Funds representing the monies deducted shall be forwarded to the Union no later than thirty (30) calendar days following each pay period. A remittance statement will be provided at the same time setting out the employee's name, employee number and the amount deducted.
- 3.05 The Employer shall remit to the Union, within thirty (30) calendar days following date of hire, the Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union membership application form signed by the new employee.
- 3.06 The Employer agrees to record the annual union dues for each employee on their T4 form.

- 3.07 The Union shall indemnify and save harmless the Employer, its officers, employees and agents against any and all suits, claims, demands, actions, causes of action and liabilities that arise out of or by reason of any action taken by it, them or any of them for the purpose of complying with the provisions of this Article.
- 3.08 The Employer agrees to acquaint employees with the fact that a Collective Agreement is in effect and provide the employee with a copy of the current Agreement.

The Employer shall inform the Secretary of the Local on a monthly basis of the hiring of new employees, of the said employees' names, dates of hire, positions and locations of employment. A Union Steward shall be given the opportunity to meet each new employee during regular working hours, without loss of pay, for a maximum of fifteen (15) minutes. Such time shall be arranged between the Steward and their Supervisor.

- 3.09 The Employer recognizes the Union's right to appoint or otherwise select Stewards to represent employees in the bargaining unit. Only one (1) steward shall carry out steward duties with respect to a particular matter or issue at a time. The Union agrees to provide the Employer with a list of Stewards and to notify the Employer in writing of any changes in the list of stewards.
- 3.10 The Union shall notify the Employer in writing of the name of each Steward and, where applicable, each Committee Member, before Management shall be required to recognize any person so selected. They are the ones authorized to represent the Union at meetings with the Employer.
- 3.11 Any contract or agreement between the Employer and employees for whom the Union has bargaining rights, which is contrary to the Collective Agreement, shall be null and void.
- 3.12 Bargaining unit employees have the right to have the assistance of a paid Union Representative of the Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union when dealing with the Employer, as provided in this Agreement.
- 3.13 (a) Where operational requirements permit and on reasonable notice, special leave without pay shall be granted to employees for Union business to attend and to travel to convention, conferences, education programs, local meetings and any other such business as may be authorized by the Union. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.
  - (b) The Employer will continue the salary and benefits of an employee who is granted leave without pay in accordance with Article 3.13 (a) and will bill

the Union for the employee's salary and benefits including the Employer's share of the premium for such benefits.

3.14 The Union may select a Negotiating Committee of no more than four (4) bargaining unit employees to attend meetings with the Employer for the purpose of renegotiating this Collective Agreement. Those employees who are required to attend at negotiations shall be paid their hourly rate without loss of seniority or benefits for all time spent at negotiations up to and including conciliation and mediation which conflict with their scheduled work time. The Employer shall bill the Union for such costs (including wages, benefits, etc.) which shall be reimbursed to the Employer within thirty (30) calendar days as a condition of continued payment.

### ARTICLE 4 - LABOUR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- 4.01 A Labour-Management Committee (the "Committee") shall be established consisting of not more than three (3) representatives of the Employer and three (3) representatives of the Union, provided that no more than one (1) representative from any one Department (i.e. Senior Nursing, Children Nursing, Dietary, Housekeeping/Laundry, Maintenance and Recreation), shall be allowed to attend meetings of the committee during working hours, unless approved by the Employer. The Committee shall enjoy the full support of both parties in the interest of improved services to the residents.
- 4.02 The Committee shall concern itself with matters of mutual concern, relating to the employees, the Employer and the residents. The parties agree to advance notification in writing of the matters they wish to discuss at any meeting, however, other matters may be discussed. The Committee shall meet quarterly.
- 4.03 The Union representatives shall not suffer any loss of their regular pay or benefits for time spent in Committee meetings.
- 4.04 An Employer and a Union Representative shall be designated as Joint Chairpersons and shall alternate in presiding over the meeting.
- 4.05 Minutes of each meeting of the Committee shall be prepared by the Chairperson and shall be distributed to the members of the Committee within two weeks.
- 4.06 The Committee shall not have the power to bind either the Union or its members or the Employer to any decisions and conclusions reached in their discussions and its role shall be only to make recommendations.

# **ARTICLE 5 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

- 5.01 The Union recognizes that it is the right of the Employer to manage the affairs and to establish and direct the work force and, unless the Collective Agreement specifically provides otherwise and without restricting the generality of the foregoing, the Union acknowledges that it is the exclusive function of the Employer to:
  - (a) maintain order, discipline and efficiency;
  - (b) hire, promote, demote, transfer, determine qualifications, assign work, classify, discipline, suspend, lay off or discharge any employee covered by this Agreement, provided that a claim that an employee has been demoted, disciplined, suspended or discharged without just cause, may be the subject of a grievance dealt with as hereinafter provided;
  - (c) study or implement new or improved methods or facilities to determine the schedules of work, kinds and locations of equipment to be used, the control of materials and parts, the extension, limitation, curtailment or cessation of operations in whole or in part, and all other matters concerning the operation of the Employer's business not specifically restricted in this Agreement;
  - (d) determine the nature and kind of services to be provided by the Employer and the methods, procedures, equipment, materials and manpower to be used in providing these services.

The Employer agrees that management rights will not be exercised in a manner contrary to the express provisions of this Agreement.

# **ARTICLE 6 - NO DISCRIMINATION**

6.01 No Discrimination

The Employer and the Union agree that there shall be no discrimination against any employee on any grounds established in the *Human Rights Act*, S.N.S. 1991, c. 12.

# 6.02 No Discrimination for Union Activity

The Employer agrees that there shall be no discrimination with respect to any employee by reason of membership or activity in the Union.

6.03 Both parties to this Collective Agreement agree that harassment is inappropriate and shall support a workplace free from harassment and bullying. Employees are responsible for familiarizing themselves with the Employer's Harassment and Bullying Policies.

# **ARTICLE 7 - NO STRIKE/LOCKOUT**

- 7.01 The Employer agrees that there shall be no lock-out of employees until the Employer is in a legal lock-out position. The Union agrees that there shall be no strikes, slow-downs, picketing, working to rule or any other interruptions of normal work by the employees covered by this Agreement and/or the Union until the Union is in a legal strike position.
- 7.02 Notwithstanding the above, if, in the negotiations for the renewal of this Agreement, either party applies for conciliation, the Employer shall immediately provide the Union with a list of essential services and the names of employees it has designated to perform those services in the event of a legal strike. The Employer and the Union shall attempt to reach agreement in this respect, but failing such agreement, the Employer, prior to any legal strike, shall be entitled to designate those employees which it shall require to perform such essential services, subject to the right of the Union to submit that issue directly to arbitration pursuant to Article 9. Until determined otherwise by such Arbitration Board, all employees designated by the Employer to perform such essential services shall, notwithstanding any legal strike, be required and they agree to perform fully their work assignments as directed by the Employer and they shall be bound by and receive the benefits of all relevant provisions of this Agreement.

# **ARTICLE 8 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

- 8.01 A grievance is any dispute arising between the Employer, any employee(s) or the Union regarding the interpretation, application or administration of this Agreement, including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable or where an allegation is made that this Agreement has been violated.
- 8.02 "Working Days" for the purpose of this Article shall mean Monday to Friday exclusive of Holidays.
- 8.03 Informal Dispute Resolution Procedure

A dispute shall be an action or lack of action by the Employer that results in an employee feeling unjustly treated or otherwise aggrieved. Where an employee has a dispute of any nature, that dispute shall be discussed orally with the Department Head or, where the Department Head is not present, with the RN supervisor, within twenty-five (25) Working Days of the occurrence or from when the employee should reasonably have known of the occurrence of the incident giving rise to the dispute with the intention of resolving the dispute. The employee may have a Steward present if they so desire. The Department Head or designate shall answer the dispute in writing within ten (10) Working Days of the discussion. A grievance shall not be filed until the subject matter is first subjected to this informal dispute resolution procedure.

8.04 An employee grievance shall be processed in the following manner:

### Step 1

The grievance shall be presented in writing by the employee and/or the Union representative to the Department Head or designate. The grievance must be submitted within ten (10) working days of the written response of the Department Head or designate under the Informal Dispute Resolution Procedure. The grievance must bear the signature of the employee and as a condition of its validity, including arbitrability, it must state the section(s) of the Agreement in question and any relief sought. The Department Head or their designate shall reply in writing to the grievance within ten (10) working days from the date upon which it was received.

# <u>Step 2</u>

Failing a reply in Step 1 or, if such reply is unsatisfactory to the employee, the Union, within ten (10) working days of the day the Department Head's reply was or should have been made, may submit the grievance in writing to the Administrator or designate together with an explanation of why the reply from the Department Head or designate is unsatisfactory.

Within ten (10) working days of receipt of the grievance, the Administrator or designate shall arrange for a meeting with the Union, the employee concerned and any non-bargaining unit persons whom the Administrator or their designate considers appropriate to discuss the grievance. This meeting shall occur within fifteen (15) calendar days of the Administrator's (or designate's) receipt of the grievance unless mutually agreed otherwise.

Within ten (10) working days of that meeting, the Administrator shall reply in writing to the grievance.

### Step 3

Failing satisfactory settlement being reached in Step 2, the Union may refer the grievance to arbitration pursuant to this Article and Article 9.

- 8.05 A grievance in compliance with Article 8.04, Step 1 arising out of the discharge of an employee, may be submitted directly to the Administrator or their designate at Step 2.
- 8.06 Policy Grievance
  - (a) Any policy grievance between the Union and the Employer must be submitted in writing by one or the other party directly to the Administrator or their designate or the Employee Relations Officer or their designate, as the case may be, twenty-five (25) Working Days of the occurrence or from when the Union or Employer knew or should reasonably have known of the occurrence of the incident giving rise to the event giving rise to the grievance. If no satisfactory settlement is reached within fifteen (15) Working Days following receipt of the grievance, it may be submitted by the grieving party to arbitration pursuant to Article 9.
  - (b) It is the intention of the parties that the procedure provided for in this clause for the Union to file a grievance shall be reserved for grievances of a general nature for which the regular grievance procedure for employees is not available and that it shall not be used to by-pass the regular grievance procedure provided for employees.
- 8.07 In determining the time in which any step under the grievance procedure is to be taken, Saturdays, Sundays and recognized holidays shall be excluded. The time limits for the initial filing of a grievance are mandatory. Other time limits established in this Article are directory.
- 8.08 The Union recognizes that Shop Stewards shall not leave work to attend a meeting under Article 8.03 or 8.04 without obtaining permission of their Department Head or designate which permission shall not be unreasonably withheld. Only one (1) Shop Steward at a time will attend such meetings. On resuming their normal duties, the Shop Steward shall notify their Department Head or designate.
- 8.09 Grievance Mediation

Where the parties have been unsuccessful in resolving the matter through the grievance procedure, the parties may jointly submit the matter to the Department of Labour and Advanced Education's Grievance Mediation Program or such

other mediation option as is agreeable to the parties. It is understood that grievance mediation is a voluntary program and that arbitration remains an option should the grievance remain unresolved after grievance mediation.

# **ARTICLE 9 – ARBITRATION**

- 9.01 If a settlement is not reached after the grievance steps above, either party may serve notice of intention to seek arbitration. Such notice must be given at the earliest possible date but in any case not later than fifteen (15) days from the receipt of the reply at the final step of the Grievance Procedure. The matter may then be referred to a sole Arbitrator appointed by mutual consent. The decision of the Arbitrator shall be binding on both parties.
- 9.02 Arbitration Procedure
  - (a) If the Union and the Employer fail to agree upon the appointment of an arbitrator within ten (10) days of notice of arbitration in accordance with Article 9.01, the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour and Advanced Education for Nova Scotia.
  - (b) <u>Arbitration Decision</u> With due regard to the wishes of the parties, the decision shall, in the normal course be handed down within a maximum of thirty (30) days at the end of the hearing.
- 9.03 No matter shall be submitted to arbitration which has not been carried through all previous steps of the grievance procedure.
- 9.04 The parties shall jointly bear the expense of the arbitrator.
- 9.05 The decision of the single arbitrator shall be final and binding on the Employer, the Union and the employee(s) affected, provided, however, that in no event shall the single arbitrator have the power to change this Agreement or to alter, modify or amend any of the provisions, nor to make any decision in conflict with the provisions of this Agreement.

### **ARTICLE 10 - OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY**

10.01 Occupational Health and Safety Act

The Employer, the Union and the employees agree to be bound by the provisions of the Occupational Health and Safety Act, S.N.S. 1996, c7, as amended.

- 10.02 A paid Union representative may also attend Committee meetings at the invitation of the Committee.
- 10.03 Union representatives on the Joint OH&S Committee shall be entitled to pay at straight time for attendance at Joint OH&S meetings. It is understood that the time spent at such meetings will not be calculated in the daily and or weekly hours of work which might otherwise put the employee in an overtime position.

### ARTICLE 11 – SENIORITY

- 11.01 For the purpose of scheduling only, seniority shall operate on a departmental basis, namely; Environmental Services (i.e.) Housekeeping and Laundry); Dietary; Senior's Nursing; Maintenance; Recreation and Children's Nursing. For other purposes, seniority shall operate on a bargaining unit basis, subject to any specific provisions under this Agreement to the contrary.
- 11.02 Where two or more employees have equal seniority, preference shall be given in accordance with the employee's first day of employment. Where two or more employees have equal seniority and they commenced work on the same day, preference shall be given in accordance with the date of application for employment.
- 11.03 The Employer shall maintain a seniority list showing the employee's name, date of the first day of continuous employment, relative seniority, classification and department, paid hours, and status (i.e. full-time, regular part-time or temporary).
- 11.04 An up-to-date seniority list in the form described in this Article shall be provided to the Union and posted in January and July of each year. Employees who consider that their seniority reflected on the posted seniority list is not accurate shall bring the matter to the Employer's attention. If any employee fails to challenge the seniority list within thirty (30) calendar days following the posting of the list the employee's seniority shall be deemed to be valid. Should an employee challenge the validity of their seniority and establish that there has been an error the Employer shall immediately correct the error, however, where

the error was a bona fide one the employee may not recover any losses for that period preceding the employee's challenge of the seniority list.

- 11.05 An employee shall lose seniority rights and employment in the event:
  - (1)\* the employee resigns and fails to withdraw the resignation within seventytwo (72) hours;
  - (2) the employee is discharged for just cause and is not reinstated;
  - (3) the employee is laid off for a period of more than twelve (12) consecutive months.
  - (4) the employee is absent from work for more than five (5) consecutive working days without securing leave of absence from the Employer;
  - (5) the employee fails to return to work within seven (7) calendar days after recall notice is given to the employee personally, or by registered mail to the employee's last address on file with the Employer. It shall be a condition of possible future recall that any laid off employee keep the Employer informed as to their current mailing address and telephone number; or
  - (6) the employee fails to return to work following an approved leave of absence on the day set out when the leave was granted unless the Employer agrees in writing to extend the leave.
- 11.06 Notwithstanding Article 1.01 (n), if an employee is promoted or transferred to a position outside the bargaining unit, the employee shall retain seniority accumulated up to the date of leaving the unit but will not accumulate any further seniority. In the event that during the first sixty (60) days worked in the position, the employee is found unsatisfactory in the new position or if the employee finds themselves unable to perform the duties of the new position, the employee shall be returned to the bargaining unit where the employee shall be placed in their former position or if the position no longer exists, the employee's rights shall be governed by Article 13. Any other employee promoted or transferred because of the rearrangement of positions shall also be returned to their former position, or if the position no longer exists, the employee's rights shall be governed by Article 13.
- 11.07 Notwithstanding Article 1.01 (n), an employee temporarily promoted or transferred to a position outside the bargaining unit for no more than twelve (12) months shall retain and continue to accumulate seniority during that period. The employee shall continue to have dues deducted during this period as provided in Article 3. The employee shall continue to have the right to file a grievance under

this Collective Agreement. The twelve (12) month period may be extended by the mutual agreement of the parties.

- 11.08 Notwithstanding Article 1.01 (n), except as otherwise provided herein, an employee shall not accumulate seniority when the employee is on:
  - (a) lay off after 12 months;
  - (b) strike/lock out;
  - (c) long term disability after two (2) years,
  - (d) leave of absence without pay except as set out in (e) below:

Accordingly, the employee's seniority date will be adjusted forward to reflect the length of the foregoing absences.

- (e) Employees shall continue to accumulate seniority while absent for the following:
  - i) educational upgrading as approved by the Employer if not more that one (1) year duration:
  - ii) pregnancy, birth, parental or adoption leave as per Article 20.10;
  - iii) compassionate care leave;
  - iii) union leave
  - iv) layoff up to twelve (12) consecutive months
  - iv) an employee in receipt of WCB
  - v) approved sick leave, including an employee in receipt of LTD, up to two (2) years.
- 11.09 A part-time employee cannot use seniority to displace a full-time employee under Article 13.

# ARTICLE 12 - JOB POSTING

12.01 Where the Employer determines that a vacancy or new position is to be filled within the bargaining unit, the Employer shall post a notice of the position on the bulletin board for seven (7) calendar days. Any applicant from within the bargaining unit must make written application within this seven (7) day period. An employee who is absent at the time a posting occurs, may make a written application within seven (7) calendar days in advance of such absence.

- 12.02 The notice shall contain the following information:
  - classification
  - current rate of pay
  - term of the position (i.e., temporary or permanent)
  - full-time or part-time status
  - required qualifications
- 12.03 Where the Employer determines that a temporary vacancy in excess of six (6) months is to be filled within the bargaining unit, the Employer shall post the temporary vacancy. However, the Employer is not required to post in the case of any temporary vacancy which is not intended to exceed six (6) months.
- 12.04 In filling a vacancy in an existing or new position, the ability of the applicant to satisfy the job requirements, as determined by the Employer, shall be the governing consideration; provided, however, where the relative ability to satisfy the job requirements is equal, bargaining unit seniority will govern.

Notwithstanding the above, the Employer may award the position to the most senior applicant without conducting interviews.

- 12.05 Only those positions that cannot be filled by a bargaining unit member who meets the stated qualifications, skills, and abilities for the position shall be open to applicants outside the bargaining unit.
- 12.06 If a successful applicant, from within the bargaining unit, is found unsatisfactory in the position or, if the employee finds themselves unable to perform the duties of the position, the employee shall be placed in their former position, or if the position no longer exists, the employee's rights shall be governed by Article 13. Any other employee promoted or transferred because of the rearrangement of positions shall also be returned to their former position, or if the position no longer exists, the employee's rights shall be governed by Article 13. This right may be exercised during the first sixty (60) days worked in the position. This period does not constitute a trial, learning or training period. The successful applicant is expected to be able to fulfill the job requirements.

# 12.07 Letter of Appointment

An employee, upon hiring or change of status, shall be provided with a statement of their classification and employment status (i.e. full time or part time), and pay scale applicable to their position. A copy of this statement shall be sent to the Union at the same time as it is sent to the employee.

# ARTICLE 13 - LAYOFF AND RECALL

- 13.01 A layoff is a severance from active employment which arises as a result of a shortage of work. The provisions of this Article do not apply to a layoff of seven (7) calendar days or less.
- 13.02 In the event of a layoff, an employee is to be laid off in reverse order of departmental seniority, providing the senior employee, in the Employer's judgment, is able to satisfy the job requirements for the remaining work in the department. If there is no employee in the employee's department who can be displaced as provided herein, the employee who is going to be laid off may exercise seniority in another department if that employee, in the Employer's judgment, satisfies the job requirements for the remaining work and the employee being displaced has less seniority and is in the same or lower classification.
- 13.03 Employees shall be recalled in order of their seniority, (either departmental or unit wide as per Article 13.02) provided they, in the Employer's judgment, satisfy the job requirements for the work.
- 13.04 Notice of recall shall be provided and deemed received by means of registered mail, hand delivery or personal telephone contact confirmed in writing to the employee's last known address or telephone number. The employee must keep the Employer advised of their current address and telephone number.
- 13.05 New employees shall not be hired where there are employees on lay-off who can meet the job requirements for the position and are willing to accept recall.
- 13.06 In the event of a lay-off the Employer shall provide both the Union and the laid off employee with fourteen (14) calendar days advance written notice or pay in lieu to the employee with immediate written notice to the Union. However, any employee who exercises bumping rights to avoid a lay-off must advise the Employer in writing within three (3) calendar days of receipt of any lay-off notice of the person who they intends to bump. This is a condition of the exercise of bumping rights.
- 13.07 (a) Twenty (20) working days written notice of layoff will be given to an employee with less than ten (10) years of continuous employment with the Employer and forty (40) working days written notice of layoff will be given to an employee with ten (10) or more years of continuous employment with the Employer except for layoff that results from labour disputes or unforeseen circumstances beyond the Employer's control in which cases as much notice as possible will be given.

(b) Where notice is not given in accordance with (a) above, the employee shall receive pay in lieu for the amount of notice to which the employee is entitled.

# **ARTICLE 14 - PAYMENT OF WAGES**

- 14.01 The Employer shall pay employees every second Thursday in accordance with Appendix "A" containing job classification and wage rates attached hereto and forming part of this Agreement. On each pay day each employee shall be provided with an itemized statement of wages, overtime and any supplementary pay and deductions.
- 14.02 An employee covered by this Agreement who is temporarily assigned by the Employer to another position in the bargaining unit for which the rate of pay is higher than the rate of pay for such employee's regular position shall receive the higher rate of pay.
- 14.03 An employee covered by this Agreement who is temporarily assigned by the Employer to another position for which the rate of pay is lower than the rate for such employee's regular position, shall receive their regular rate of pay while so employed and not the rate of pay for the temporary assignment. However, if the employee requests to work in a job with a lower rate of pay so as to satisfy their own interests, the Employer need not pay the higher rate, when the employee so agrees in writing.

# ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK\*

- 15.01 (a) The regular hours of work for a full-time employee shall consist of a minimum of eighty (80) hours in every bi-weekly pay period. The parties recognize that there may be departments which may have a regular work week for full time employees consisting of shifts in excess of eight (8) hours each. The regular hours of work for such employees shall consist of an average of eighty (80) hours in every bi-weekly pay period over a six (6) week rotation (i.e. two hundred and forty (240) hours in each six (6) week rotation). Those regular shifts shall not exceed twelve (12) hours duration.
  - (b) The regular hours of work for a Part-time employee shall be as indicated in the Part-time employee's appointment letter expressed as a percentage of full-time equivalent ("FTE Status") in every bi-weekly pay period. The parties recognize that there may be departments which may have a regular work week for part-time employees consisting of shifts both less

than eight (8) hours each and in excess of eight (8) hours each. The regular hours of work for such employees shall consist of an average of their FTE Status in every bi-weekly pay over a six week rotation. Those regular shifts shall not be less than two (2) hours duration and shall not exceed twelve (12) hours duration.

### 15.02 Smoothing\*

- (A) Where during a regular scheduled shift rotation, a fulltime or part-time Employee may be required to work in excess of eighty (80) hours in a two (2) week period, additional hours shall not constitute overtime in that two (2) week period, provided the hours or work average eighty (80) hours per two (2) weeks of each complete cycle of the shift schedule.
  - (i) Give the Employee time off on shift(s) the Employee would otherwise be scheduled to work; or
  - (ii) Pay the Employee at the Employee's straight time rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of hours paid.
- (B) Smoothing Reconciliation\*
  - (a) When an Employee's scheduled rotation changes but the Employee remains an Employee, and has worked more time than the Employee has been paid for, the Employer shall compensate the Employee by paying the Employee at the Employee's straight time rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of hours paid by either:
    - (i) giving the Employee time off on shift(s) the Employee would otherwise be scheduled to work; or
    - (ii) paying the Employee at the Employee's straight time rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of hours paid
  - (b) When an Employee's scheduled rotation changes but the Employee remains an Employee, and the Employee owes the Employer time, the Employer shall with prior notice to the Employee:
    - (i) By mutual agreement with the Employee, reduce the Employee's vacation earned by the amount owed to the Employer.

(ii) By mutual agreement with the Employee, schedule the Employee to work additional shifts to eliminate the time owed.

# (C) Termination of Employment

An Employee who resigns or is otherwise terminated, and who has received more paid hours than time actually worked shall agree to have the final pay reduced by the amount owed by the Employee to the Employer, or if the Employee had more time worked than pay, the Employee shall be paid the amount owed upon such resignation or termination.

15.03 All employees shall be entitled to paid breaks on the basis of the following:

- (a) For an eight (8) hour shift, a thirty (30) minute meal period and two fifteen (15) minute rest periods, one during the first half of the shift and one during the second half of the shift unless other arrangements have been agreed to between management and employees to accommodate special needs of the shift/unit under consideration. The Employer will have final authority to change breaks. Resident care must be the priority in considering changes to break schedules.
- (b) For a ten (10) hour shift, a forty-five (45) minute meal period and two fifteen (15) minute rest periods, one during the first half of the shift and one during the second half of the shift;
- (c) For a twelve (12) hour shift, two thirty (30) minute meal periods and two fifteen (15) minute rest periods, one during the first half of the shift and one during the second half of the shift;
- (d) For employees working shifts of other durations, meal and rest periods shall be pro-rated against the eight (8) hour shift;
- (e) For employees required to work hours in excess of their scheduled shift, additional meal and rest periods shall be prorated against the eight (8) hour shift.
- 15.04 (a) The shift schedule for all employees shall be posted in. an appropriate place thirteen (13) days in advance. These scheduled shifts shall not be changed by the Employer unless the circumstances reasonably justify such change or unless the Employer and employee agree to such change.

- (b) Except where change is by mutual agreement, the Employer shall make every reasonable effort not to change the shifts. If the Employer changes the shift schedule within twenty-four (24) hours of the shift, the Employee(s) affected shall be entitled to overtime compensation for that shift.
- 15.05 Subject to applicable provisions of the *Labour Standards Code*, for full time employees, days off shall be consecutive unless otherwise agreed by the employee and the Employer.
- 15.06 An employee called in to work with less than one (1) hour's notice before shift start time shall not lose pay for failing to start work within the first hour of the shift if the employee makes every reasonable effort to be on time.

### 15.07 Scheduling on Other Departments

Part-time employees will not be assigned shifts on the schedule in departments other than their primary department. Employees will not normally work shifts in departments other than their primary department, however, it is understood that, subject to and the employee having the necessary skills and qualifications and having been properly oriented to the department, part-time employees may, at the Employer's discretion, be offered extra shifts in such other department.

Employees who do not have the necessary skills and qualifications to work in another department but who could obtain such skills and qualifications with an orientation to such other department may request such orientation on their own unpaid time. The Head of such other department may in their discretion exercised reasonably, schedule such unpaid orientation to take place.

### 15.08 Exchange of Shifts

Provided advance notice is given, which notice in the opinion of the Employer is deemed sufficient, and with the approval of the Employer, employees may exchange shifts, where operational requirements permit, and there is no increase in cost to the Employer.

Where two employees wish to exchange particular shifts on a regular basis they may make application on the prescribed form to the Employer at least two (2) weeks prior to the posting of the schedule. Where operational requirements permit, and there is no increase in cost to the Employer, the Employer may approve such requests. Employees who exchange shifts under this provision shall be responsible for working the newly exchanged shift as if it were their normally assigned shift. Such approved exchanges shall be deemed part of the schedule and shall continue until either of the employees or the Employer gives notice on the prescribed form to the other two parties that the arrangement shall cease. Such notice shall be given at least two weeks notice prior to the posting of the next schedule.

Seniority shall not apply to give employees priority with respect to exchange of shifts under this Article 15.08.

### 15.09 Change of Shift Rotations

The Employer shall provide a minimum of six (6) weeks notice when changing the shift rotation of an employee, unless mutually agreed between the Employer and the employee.

#### 15.10 Evening and Night Shifts

Subject to operational requirements, employees working a rotating shift schedule shall be scheduled to work evening and night shifts on a fair and equitable basis.

Notwithstanding the above, employees wishing to work more evening or night shifts may request such in writing. Permission for such shall not be unreasonably withheld.

#### 15.11 Weekend Scheduling

Subject to operational requirements, other provisions of this collective agreement and applicable provisions of the *Labour Standards Code*, the Employer make reasonable efforts provide full-time employees with every second (2<sup>nd</sup>) weekend off, and part-time employees with one (1) weekend off in three (3).

#### 15.12 (a) Part-Time Employees – Additional Shifts

The provisions of overtime and call back shall not apply to a Part-Time employee assigned work shifts in addition to those for which the employee was scheduled on the posted schedule ("Additional Shifts") except when the employee is required to work hours in excess of the scheduled shift of eight (8) hours or more or in excess of eighty (80) hours bi-weekly.

### (b) Part-Time Employee's Extra Shifts

 (i) All Part-Time employees shall indicate to the Department Head or designate (on the Part-time Employee Availability Form – Appendix "B") whether or not the employee is interested in the assignment of Additional Shifts that are known prior to posting ("Extra Shifts") and that are beyond their designation as a percentage of Full-Time hours.

- (ii) A Part-Time employee may be assigned Extra Shifts up to the point of their indicated willingness to work extra shifts. The Employer shall, subject to other provisions of this Agreement, assign Extra Shifts to such Part-Time employees as set out in (iv) below on the basis of indicated availability. If Extra Shifts still exist after assignment of the Extra Shifts to Part-Time employees, as set out above, the Employer may offer the Extra Shift(s) to Casual employees.
  - (iii) A Part-Time Employee is permitted to submit a revised Availability Form indicating availability by March 1<sup>st</sup> (for April to June); by June 1<sup>st</sup> (for July to September); by September 1<sup>st</sup> (for October to December); and by December 1<sup>st</sup> (for January to March). A revised Part-Time Employee Availability Form may be submitted more often where mutually agreed with the Employer. Such agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld. Where an employee fails to submit a revised Availability Form, the existing form shall remain in effect. The Employer shall provide the employee with a copy of their Availability Form when the same is submitted.
- (iv) Shifts in the Nursing Department will be assigned 2 at a time (or less if the employee desires less than 2 shifts) on the basis of seniority, rotating to the top when the least senior employee has received 2 offers. Assignments are to start at the top of the seniority list at the beginning of each new 6 week rotation. In all other Departments shifts will be assigned 1 at a time on the basis of seniority, rotating to the top when the least senior employee has received 1 offer. Assignments are to start at the top of the seniority list at the beginning of each new 6 week rotation.
- (c) Part-Time Employee's Relief Shifts
  - (i) When Additional Shifts become available after a shift schedule has been posted ("Relief Shifts") such Relief Shifts will be offered, subject to other provisions of this Agreement, to Part-Time employees who have indicated an availability for Relief Shifts on a seniority basis and then to Casual employees.
  - (ii) Part-Time Employees may work Relief Shifts without advance notice and there shall be no financial penalty on the Employer. Part-Time Employees may also have Relief Shifts cancelled with

two (2) hours advance notice and there shall be no financial penalty on the Employer. In the event less notice is given for a cancelled Relief Shift, the Part-Time Employee shall be provided with work or be paid for the cancelled Relief Shift.

- (iii) In the event that Part-Time employees who have indicated an availability for Relief Shifts are consistently unavailable for such shifts or consistently refuse Relief Shifts when offered, the Employer may cease offering the employee Relief Shifts until such time that the Employer is satisfied that the employee will be available for such shifts.
- 15.13 Notwithstanding Article 16.01, where, subject to operational requirements and the Employer's approval and, an employee in the Recreation or Maintenance Department wishes to work additional hours beyond their regular scheduled shift in order to reduce the number of hours required to be worked on a subsequent scheduled workday, overtime rates shall not be payable for such work beyond the regular scheduled shift.
- 15.14 Shift Premium

All employees shall receive a shift premium for all hours worked between 1900 hours and 0700 hours.

Effective August 1, 2019, the rate becomes \$2.00 per hour. Effective ratification, the rate becomes \$2.15 per hour. Effective October 31, 2021, the rate shall become \$2.35 per hour.

#### 15.15 Weekend Premium

All employees shall receive a weekend premium for all hours worked between midnight Friday and midnight Sunday.

Effective August 1, 2019, the rate becomes \$2.00 per hour. Effective ratification, the rate becomes \$2.15 per hour. Effective October 31, 2021, the rate shall become \$2.35 per hour.

Employees working a weekend during the hours set out in Article 15.14 are entitled to both the shift and weekend premiums.

#### 15.16 Callback Compensation

An employee who is called back to work and who reports for work shall be compensated for a minimum of three (3) hours at straight time rate for the period

worked, or at the applicable overtime rate, whichever is greater.

### 15.17 Time Off Between Shifts

The Employer shall provide employees with a minimum of ten (10) hours off between scheduled shifts, except where mutually agreed otherwise between the Employer and the employee.

It is understood, however, that employees who sign up for additional and/or extra shifts shall be deemed to have mutually agreed to a minimum of eight (8) hours off between shifts.

#### 15.18 Short Notice Assignment

In short notice circumstances, where there is a staff need in a work area and where Employees in another work area essentially perform the same function as Employees in the same classification or position classification title series, and where the Employer is unable to increase the complement of staff, the Employer may reassign an Employee(s) within the same classification. The following process with be followed:

- (a) The Employer will verbally notify those Employees, who are at work on the shift in the other work area of the need by inviting verbal expressions of interest.
- (b) Where it is determined by the Employer that:
  - (i) two or more Employees for such a short notice reassignment are gualified; and
  - (ii) those Employees are of equal merit, preference in selecting the Employee for the short notice reassignment shall be given to the Employee with the greatest length of seniority.
- (c) Where the Employer does not receive any qualified Employees' expression of interest in accepting the short notice reassignment, the most junior qualified Employee in the work area shall be reassigned.

### 15.19 Changed Schedules

The Employer shall make every reasonable effort not to change schedules once posted. The Employer shall advise any Employee of an intended change in the Employee's schedule as soon as it is known by the Employer.

- (a) A minimum of twenty-four (24) hours' notice in advance of a scheduled shift shall normally be given when the shift to be worked is changed. A change of shift occurs when both the scheduled start time and end time for a scheduled shift are changed or the calendar date of the shift is changed.
- (b) Except where the change is by mutual agreement between the Employee and the Employer, if the schedule is changed by the Employer without the minimum twenty-four (24) hours' notice prior to the start of the original shift the Employee shall be compensated at the overtime rate for the shift worked as a result of the changed schedule.
- (c) The requirement to work additional hours continuous to an assigned shift (whether before the shift or after the shift) is not a change of schedule and the Employee shall be compensated for the additional hours in accordance with Article 16 (Overtime).

### 15.20 Maximum Hours of Work\*

- (a) Unless mutually agreed otherwise, Employees shall not be required to work more than a total of sixteen (16) hours (inclusive of regular and overtime hours) in a twenty-four (24) hour period beginning at the first (1st) hour the Employee reports to work, except in emergency situations and as set out in Article 15.21
- (b) An Employee who works more than sixteen (16) hours as set out in Article 15.20 (a), shall be entitled to a rest interval of ten (10) hours before the commencement of their next shift. The rest interval shall not cause a loss of regular pay for the hours not worked on that shift. If mutually agreeable between the Employee and the Employer, arrangements in variance to the foregoing will be acceptable and will not constitute a violation of this Article.

### 15.21 Work Coverage\*

Employees agree to maintain nursing/ employee coverage for all units during the shift change subject to provisions of Article 16, Overtime.

If a situation requires an immediate vacancy for the upcoming shift the Employer shall first request volunteers. In the event of multiple volunteers, the Employer will give preference to seniority provided the Employees are of equal merit. If no Employee volunteers, the Employer shall assign in an equitable manner. A rotational list will be developed with Employees in each work area listed in order of seniority.

### 15.22 Charge Pay\*

In the absence of management staff, the Employer may designate a Registered Nurse or a Licensed Practical Nurse to be responsible for the facility.

If designated, the Registered Nurse or Licensed Practical Nurse will receive One Dollar (\$1.00) per hour for each hour worked with the designated responsibility.

#### 15.23 Standby\*

#### Stand-By Provisions

- (a) Stand-By is defined as an assignment by the Employer requiring an Employee to be readily available for work when required.
- (b) Stand-By Provisions apply only to Employees who work in the Maintenance I and Maintenance II classifications and to the work of those classifications.
- (c) The Employee who is on Stand-By shall be compensated with an additional week of vacation to be taken at a mutually agreed time.
- (d) An Employee who is on Stand-By and required to return to work shall be compensated as per Article 15.16.
- (e) An Employee may be required to be on Stand-By on a day not scheduled to be at work and this assignment shall not be deemed to interrupt a day off as set out in Article 15.01.
- (f) Employees shall not be assigned to Stand-By for more than two (2) weekends in a four (4) week period or for more than seven (7) consecutive days; unless mutually agreed otherwise.
- (g) An Employee shall not be required to be on Stand-By while on paid vacation leave.
- (h) Employees are not permitted to exchange Stand-By Assignments.

# ARTICLE 16 – OVERTIME

### 16.01 Overtime Defined

Overtime means authorized work in excess of eight (8) hours per day or eighty (80) hours biweekly.

Notwithstanding the above, for employees who work regular shifts in excess of eight (8) hours, overtime means authorized work in a day in excess of such regular shifts or authorized work in addition to the normal shift rotation which exceeds the bi-weekly hours for the bi-weekly pay period.

### 16.02 Overtime Compensation

- (a) An employee shall be compensated at the rate of one and one-half times (1.5X) the employee's regular hourly rate for all overtime worked.
- (b) Where an employee works overtime beyond the end of their regularly scheduled shift for a period of four (4) hours, the employee shall be entitled to a meal in accordance with Employer policies and procedures. Where a meal is not provided, the Employee shall be reimbursed their expenses for one meal in the amount of ten dollars (\$10.00).

### 16.03 Form of Compensation

Compensation for overtime shall be paid except where, upon request of the employee, and with the approval of the Employer, overtime may be granted in the form of time off in lieu of overtime hours worked, at the applicable overtime rate.

- 16.04 There shall be no pyramiding of premium pay except as where otherwise provided in this Agreement.
- 16.05 In computing overtime, a period of thirty (30) minutes or less shall be counted as one-half (1/2) hour, and a period of more than thirty (30) minutes but less than sixty (60) minutes shall be counted as one (1) hour.

# ARTICLE 17 - VACATIONS\*

17.01\* Employees shall receive annual vacation with pay in accordance with their completed years of service as of June 1 as follows:

Employment	Days
0 - 1 years	7/8 standard working days for each month worked
1 year but less than 5 years service	15 standard working days
5 years but less than 16 years	20 standard working days
16 years	21 standard working days
17 years	22 standard working days
18 years	23 standard working days
19 years	24 standard working days
20 years and over	25 standard working days
21 years and over	26 standard working days
22 years and over	27 standard working days
25 years and over	28 standard working days

The employee earns vacation for each month of service (i.e. active employment) during the vacation year which is taken in the next vacation year.

17.02 Vacation must be taken in the year in which it became owing the employee and shall not be carried over from one year to another. The vacation year is from June 1 of one year to May 31 of the following year.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, where an employee has not had their vacation request approved and cannot otherwise take their vacation in the year owing, the employee may carry over up to forty (40) hours to the following year. Any vacation owing greater than forty (40) hours shall be paid out by the Employer in the first full pay period following May 31<sup>st</sup>.

### 17.03 Notice of Vacation

### (a) Prime Time – June 1 to August 31

Employees requesting leave during the Prime Time must submit a written request not later than March 15<sup>th</sup>. The Employer shall post a vacation roster setting out the approved vacation periods not later than May 1<sup>st</sup>. No employee shall be granted more than two (2) weeks of vacation until all staff have had the opportunity to choose two (2) weeks of vacation time during such Prime Time period.

# (b) September 1 – December 31

Except as provided herein, employees requesting leave during the period of September 1<sup>st</sup> to December 31<sup>st</sup> must submit a written request not later than June 15<sup>th</sup>. The Employer shall post a vacation roster setting out the approved vacation periods not later than August 1<sup>st</sup>.

### (c) January 1 – May 31

Employees requesting leave during the period of January 1<sup>st</sup> to May 31<sup>st</sup> must submit a written request not later than October 15<sup>th</sup>. The Employer shall post a vacation roster setting out the approved vacation periods not later than December 1<sup>st</sup>.

Vacation requests received within the above deadlines shall be granted on the basis of seniority.

# (d) Employee Request

Subject to the operational requirements, the Employer shall make every reasonable effort to ensure that an Employee's written request for vacation leave is approved. Where, in scheduling vacation leave, the Employer is unable to comply with the Employee's written request, the Employer shall:

- (i) give the reason for disapproval; and
- (ii) make every reasonable effort to grant an Employee's vacation leave in the amount and at such time as the Employee may request in an alternative request.

Where operational requirements necessitate a decision by the Employer to place a restriction on the number of Employees on vacation leave at any one time, preference shall be given to the Employees with the greatest length of seniority.

(e) (i) Vacation requests received outside of the above deadlines shall be granted on a first come, first serve basis, subject to operational requirements. Where possible, such requests shall be submitted at least two (2) weeks in advance of the schedule being posted. Where the employee has provided such notice, the Employer shall respond to the request within two (2) weeks of the date the request was submitted.

> Where two or more employees submit a vacation request at the same time, preference shall be given to the senior employee. Nothing herein shall prevent an employee from submitting a request with less notice and the Employer shall consider such request.

- (ii) Approved vacation requests will not be revoked to accommodate subsequent conflicting requests from more senior employees.
- (iii) If an employee's request for vacation is not granted, the employee may request in writing that it be waitlisted in case of future change(s) or cancellation(s) which would enable the Employer to grant the request.
- 17.04 An employee terminating employment at any time in the vacation year prior to using their vacation shall be entitled to a proportion of wages in lieu of such vacation prior to termination. If, however, an employee has taken vacation which has not been earned, the employee shall compensate the Employer for such vacation leave taken and the Employer has the right to deduct from any final payment to which the employee would otherwise be entitled being equivalent to such monies owing to the Employer.
- 17.05 On the death of an employee, any payment respecting unpaid vacation pursuant to Article 17.01 shall be paid to the employee's estate.
- 17.06 Vacation entitlement for temporary employees, who immediately prior to commencing their temporary posting, were full-time or regular part-time employees shall be on the basis of Article 17.01 on a pro rata basis. All other temporary employees shall receive vacation as per the *Labour Standards Code*.
- 17.07 In scheduling vacations, the Employer will make a reasonable effort to grant an employee the weekend off immediately preceding or immediately following the vacation period, if requested by the employee.

### 17.08 Recall from Vacation

The Employer will make every reasonable effort not to recall an employee to duty while on vacation leave or to cancel vacation once it has been approved. An employee who has incurred non-refundable expenses related to their vacation subsequent to their vacation approval and then has their vacation cancelled or is recalled to work shall have such expenses reimbursed by the Employer. It is the responsibility of the employee to advise the Employer at the time of recall that they will be submitting a claim for vacation expenses incurred or that potential for such a claim exists failing which the Employer will not be liable to reimburse such expenses.

The employee shall be required to submit proof of expenses when making a claim for reimbursement.

# ARTICLE 18 - HOLIDAYS\*

18.01\*The following are holidays for employees:

- (a) New Year's Day
- (b) Heritage Day
- (c) Good Friday
- (d) Easter Monday
- (e) Victoria Day
- (f) Canada Day
- (g) First Monday in August
- (h) Labour Day
- (i) National Day for Truth and Reconciliation
- (j) Thanksgiving Day
- (k) Remembrance Day
- (I) Christmas Day
- (m) Boxing Day

and any other day proclaimed as a holiday by the federal or provincial government which applies to the Employer.

18.02 In lieu of the calendar holidays listed in Article 18.01 above, part-time employees shall be entitled to holiday compensation in the amount of four point two three one (4.231%) per cent of regular hours paid. Such holiday compensation shall be banked and paid out to the employee at eight (8) hours per holiday, in the same pay period as each holiday paid, up to the maximum hours banked provided the employee's bank contains at least four hours. Where the employee has less than

four (4) hours banked, such hours shall be retained in the employee's holiday bank until the next holiday.

### 18.03 Full-time Employees Working Rotation

- (i) When a holiday falls on a Regular Full-Time employee's scheduled day off or during the Regular Full-Time employee's vacation, the employee shall receive another standard working day off with pay at a time mutually agreed upon between the employee and the Employer.
- (ii) If an employee works a shift on the calendar date of a holiday listed in Article 18.01, the employee will be compensated at the rate of one and one-half (1.5x) times the employee's regular hourly rate for the hours worked.
- (iii) In addition to the compensation for the hours worked on the holiday the Regular Full-Time employee shall have the option of receiving eight (8) hours off with pay or eight (8) hours holiday pay. Time off shall be taken at a time mutually agreed between the Employer and the employee.
- 18.04 Employees (other than those working twelve hour shifts) will be considered to have worked the holiday if they worked the majority of their shift on the holiday.
- 18.05 Notwithstanding anything herein, employees who work regular scheduled shifts in excess of eight (8) hours shall receive holidays on the following basis:
  - (a) <u>Twelve (12) hour nights</u>

Employees working a twelve (12) hour night shift immediately prior to a holiday shall receive four (4) straight time and eight (8) hours at premium rate (1½ times regular rate of pay). The employee working the twelve (12) hour night shift commencing on the holiday shall receive four (4) hours at 1½ regular rate and eight (8) hours at straight time. Full-time employees shall receive another standard working day off at a time mutually agreed upon by the Employer and the employee.

(b) Twelve (12) hour day shifts

Employees working twelve (12) hour day shifts on a holiday shall receive 12 hours paid at premium rate (1½ times regular rate of pay). Full-time employees shall receive another standard working day off with pay at a time mutually agreed upon by the employee and Employer. 18.06\*Subject to operational requirements each employee shall receive either Christmas Day and one other day contiguous with Christmas Day or New Year's Day and one other day contiguous with New Year's Day off, unless otherwise mutually agreed. Subject to operational requirements employees who work Christmas Day one year shall not be required to work Christmas Day in the following year. The Employer shall make every reasonable effort to make the one day contiguous with either Christmas Day or New Year's Day to be prior to the holiday.

# **ARTICLE 19 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE**

- 19.01 During an internal investigation that results in the suspension or reduction in work for an employee, the employee will suffer no loss of pay or benefits.
- 19.02 (a) Upon written application by the employee supported by the Union four (4) weeks in advance, the Employer shall grant a leave of absence to the employee elected or appointed to represent the Union at conventions and/or executive and committee meetings of the Union, and its affiliates or chartered bodies. The leave shall be for a maximum of fifteen (15) working days per calendar year. The Employer shall maintain the employee's normal pay and benefits during such leave on the condition that the Union reimburse the Employer the full amount of such pay and benefit costs. No more than one (1) employee may be on such leave at any one time. Leave may not be granted if it conflicts with vacation already scheduled or short staffing caused by extended sickness or injury.
  - (b) An employee elected or appointed to a paid full time position within the Union shall be granted up to one (1) year leave of absence without pay and benefits.
- 19.03 Leave of absence without loss of regular pay shall be given to an employee other than an employee on leave of absence without pay or under suspension, who is required:
  - (a) to serve on a jury; or
  - (b) by subpoena or summons to attend as a witness in any proceedings for an employment related matter pertaining to the Employer, Evergreen Home for Special Care, held:
    - (i) in or under the authority of a court or tribunal; or
- (ii) before an Arbitrator or person or persons authorized by law to make an inquiry to compel the attendance of witnesses before it
- (c) by the Employer to appear as a witness in a legal proceeding, in which case the time involved shall be considered time worked.
- (d) The leave of absence under Article 19.03 shall be sufficient in duration to permit the employee to fulfill the witness or jury obligation.
- (e) An employee given Leave for Court without loss of regular pay shall pay to the Employer the amount that the employee receives for this duty.
- (f) The Employer reserves the right to appeal to the court to have "key" employees relieved of Jury Duty. It is the employee's responsibility to come to work at any time during their scheduled shifts that they are not actually required for Jury Duty or to be present in Court.
- 19.04 At the sole discretion of the Employer, an employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay and benefits and without accumulation of seniority to a maximum of six (6) months. Such a request must be made to the employee's Department Head in writing at least four (4) weeks in advance of the desired leave, explaining the reason for such request and the amount of leave requested. In special circumstances and at the sole discretion of the Employer, a leave of absence may be extended to a maximum of one year if requested by the employee.
- 19.05 Employees who are qualified electors are entitled to have:
  - (a) three (3) consecutive hours for federal elections,
  - (b) three (3) consecutive hours for provincial elections

available for voting which does not conflict with work hours. Any time off work shall be without loss of pay or benefits.

### 19.06 Compassionate Care Leave

An employee who has been employed by the Employer for a period of at least three (3) months is entitled to an unpaid leave of absence of up to twenty-eight (28) weeks to provide care or support to:

- the spouse of the employee,
- a child of the employee or a child of the Employee's spouse,
- a parent of the employee,

- the spouse of a parent of the employee, or
- any other person defined as "family member" by Regulations made pursuant to the Labour Standards Code

where a legally qualified medical practitioner issues a certificate stating that the above noted recipient of the care or support has a serious medical condition with a significant risk of death within twenty-six (26) weeks from the day the certificate was issued or, in the case where the employee began a leave before the certificate was issued, the day the leave was begun. Where requested in writing by the Employer, the employee must provide the Employer with a copy of the certificate.

The employee may take up to a maximum of twenty-eight (28) weeks of leave during the maximum of twenty-six week period. A Compassionate Care Leave may only be taken for periods not less than one (1) week's duration. The period of leave shall end when the earlier of the following occurs:

- the recipient of the care or support dies, or
- the expiration of the twenty-six (26) week period.

An employee who intends to take this leave shall advise the Employer as soon as possible. The Employer shall grant to the employee the option of maintaining a benefit plan in which the employee participated before the beginning of the leave (subject to the eligibility requirements of the plan(s)) and shall notify the employee in writing of the option and the date beyond which the option may no longer be exercised at least ten (10) days before the last day on which the option could be exercised to avoid an interruption in benefits. Where the employee opts in writing to maintain the benefit plan, the employee shall enter into an arrangement with the Employer to pay the cost required to maintain the benefit plan, including the Employer's share thereof, and the Employer shall process the documentation and payments as arranged.

### 19.07 Leave for Storms or Hazardous Conditions

It is the responsibility of the employee to make every reasonable effort to arrive at their work location as scheduled. However, during storm conditions, when such arrival is impossible, or delayed, time lost by an Employee of less than two (2) hours for a scheduled shift due to such conditions will be compensated as regular time worked. All time lost, when arrival is impossible or in excess of two (2) hours in a scheduled shift when arrival is delayed, will be deemed to be leave, and shall, at the Employee's option be:

(a) take the absent time as unpaid; or

- (b) deduct the absent time from accumulated bank vacation or holiday credits.
- (c) when the employee has no accumulated banked vacation or holiday credits, the employee may, with prior approval of the Employer, make up the absent time at a time mutually agreed between the employee and the Employer.

### 19.08 Leave for Parent of a Critically III Child

An Employee, who has been employed by the Employer for a period of at least six (6) consecutive months of continuous employment and is the parent of a critically ill child, is entitled to an unpaid leave of absence in accordance with the *Labour Standards Code*.

### 19.09 Domestic Violence

An Employee is entitled to a leave of absence if the Employee or a child of the Employee experiences domestic violence. The terms of the leave shall be in accordance with the provisions of the *Labour Standards Code*.

# ARTICLE 20 – PREGNANCY/BIRTH, PARENTAL AND ADOPTION LEAVES\*

### 20.01 Pregnancy/Birth Leave

- (a) A pregnant employee is entitled to an unpaid leave of absence, which when combined with parental leave, is a maximum of up to fifty-two (52) weeks.
- (b) A pregnant employee shall, no later than the fifth (5<sup>th</sup>) month of pregnancy, forward to the Employer a written request for pregnancy leave.
- (c) The Employer may, prior to approving such leave, request a certificate from a legally qualified medical practitioner stating that the employee is pregnant and specifying the expected date of delivery.
- (d) Pregnancy leave shall begin on such date as the employee determines, but not sooner than sixteen (16) weeks preceding the expected date of delivery nor later than the date of delivery.
- (e) Pregnancy leave shall end on such date as the employee determines, but not later than fifty-two (52) weeks following the date of delivery, nor sooner than one (1) week after the date of delivery.

### 20.02 Pregnancy Leave Notice

- (a) A pregnant employee shall provide the Employer with at least four (4) weeks notice of the date the employee intends to begin pregnancy leave. Such notice and start date of the leave may be amended:
  - by changing the date in the notice to an earlier date for medical reasons as verified by the employee's attending physician. In such cases the employee will provide as much advance notice of the revised start date of the leave as is possible; or,
  - by changing the date in the notice to an earlier date for personal reasons if the notice is amended at least four (4) weeks before the originally selected date; or,
  - (iii) by changing the date in the notice to a later date if the notice is amended at least four (4) weeks before the original date.
- (b) Where notice as required under Article 20.02 (a) is not possible due to circumstances beyond the control of the employee, the employee will provide the Employer as much notice as reasonably practicable of the commencement of the employee's leave or return to work.
- (c) The Employer shall not terminate the employment of an employee because of the employee's pregnancy.

### 20.03 Pregnancy Leave - Employer Requirement

The Employer may require a pregnant employee to commence a leave of absence without pay where the employee's position cannot be reasonably performed by a pregnant woman or the performance of the employee's work is materially affected by the pregnancy. Such action shall not be taken until the employee has been advised of the Employer's concerns and is provided with the opportunity to furnish medical evidence establishing the employee's ability to work.

### 20.04 Pregnancy Sick Leave

Leave for illness of an employee arising out of or associated with an employee's pregnancy prior to the commencement of, or the ending of, pregnancy leave granted in accordance with Article 20.01, may be granted sick leave in accordance with the provisions of this Collective Agreement.

### 20.05 Pregnancy/Birth Allowance\*

- (a) An employee entitled to pregnancy leave under the provisions of this Agreement, who provides the Employer with proof that they have applied for and is eligible to receive employment insurance (E.I.) benefits pursuant to Section 22, *Employment Insurance Act*, S.C. 1996, c.23, shall be paid an allowance in accordance with the Supplementary Employment Benefit (S.E.B).
- (b) In respect to the period of pregnancy leave, payments made according to the S.E.B. Plan will consist of the following:
  - Where the employee is subject to a waiting period of one (1) week before receiving E.I. benefits, payments equivalent to seventy-five per cent (75%) of their weekly rate of pay for each week of the one (1) week waiting period, less any other earnings received by the employee during the benefit period;
  - (ii) Up to a maximum of five (5) additional weeks, payments equivalent to the difference between the weekly E.I. benefits the employee is eligible to receive and ninety-three per cent (93%) of their weekly rate of pay, less any other earnings received by the employee during the benefit period which may result in a decrease in the E.I. benefits to which the employee would have been eligible if no other earnings had been received during the period.
- (c) For the purpose of this allowance, an employee's weekly rate of pay will be one-half (½) the bi-weekly rate of pay to which the employee is entitled for their classification on the date immediately preceding the commencement of their pregnancy leave. In the case of a part-time employee, such weekly rate of pay will be multiplied by the fraction obtained from dividing the employee's time worked (as defined for the purpose of accumulating service) averaged over the preceding twenty-six (26) weeks by the regularly scheduled full-time hours of work for the employee's classification.
- (d) Where an employee becomes eligible for a salary increment or pay increase during the benefit period, benefits under the S.E.B. plan will be adjusted accordingly.
- (e) The Employer will not reimburse the employee for any amount they are required to remit to Human Resources Development Canada, where their

annual income exceeds one and one-half (1½) times the maximum yearly insurable earnings under the *Employment Insurance Act*.

### 20.06 Parental and Adoption Leave

Shall refer to the following leaves which include female biological parents, male biological parents, male adoptive parents and female adoptive parent:

- (a) The parental leave of an employee who has taken pregnancy/birth leave and whose newborn child or children arrive in the employee's home during the pregnancy/birth leave,
  - (i) shall begin immediately upon the exhaustion of the pregnancy/birth allowance without the employee's returning to work; and
  - (ii) shall end not later than seventy-eight (78) weeks after the parental leave began as determined by the employee or longer if provided for in the *Employment Insurance Act*, SC 1996, c.23. In no case shall the combined pregnancy/birth and parental/adoption leaves to which the employee is entitled exceed a maximum of seventy-eight (78) weeks or longer if provided for in the *Employment Insurance Act*, SC 1996, c.23.
- (b) The parental leave for an employee who becomes a parent of one or more children through the birth of the child or children, other than a parent for whom provision is made in Article 20.06 (a),
  - (i) shall begin on such date coinciding with or after the birth of the child as the Employee determines; and
  - (ii) shall end not later than seventy-eight (78) weeks or longer if provided for in the *Employment Insurance Act*, SC 1996, c.23, after the child or children first arrive in the employee's home.
- (c) An employee who becomes a parent of one or more children through the placement of the child or children in the care of the employee for the purpose of adoption of the child or children is entitled to a leave of absence of up to seventy-eight (78) weeks or longer if provided for in the *Employment Insurance Act*, SC 1996, c.23. This leave:
  - (i) shall begin on a date coinciding with the arrival of the child or children in the employee's home; and

(ii) shall end not later than fifty-two (52) seventy-eight (78) weeks or longer if provided for in the *Employment Insurance Act*, SC 1996, c.23, after the leave began.

### 20.07 Parental and Adoption Leave Allowance

- (a) An Employee entitled to parental or adoption leave under the provisions of this agreement, who provides the Employer with proof that they have applied for and is eligible to receive employment insurance (E.I.) benefits pursuant to the *Employment Insurance Act*, 1996, shall be paid an allowance in accordance with the Supplementary Employment Benefit (S.E.B.) Plan.
- (b) In respect to the period of parental or adoption leave, payments made according to the S.E.B. Plan will consist of the following:
  - Where the employee is subject to a waiting period of two (2) weeks before receiving E.I. benefits, payments equivalent to seventy-five percent (75%) of their weekly rate of pay for each week of the two (2) week waiting period, less any other earnings received by the Employee during the benefit period;
  - Up to a maximum of ten (10) additional weeks, payments equivalent to the difference between the weekly E.I. benefits the employee is eligible to receive and ninety-three per cent (93%) of their weekly rate of pay, less any other earnings received by the employee during the benefit period which may result in a decrease in the E.I. benefits to which the Employee would have been eligible if no other earnings had been received during the period.
- (c) For the purposes of this allowance, an employee's weekly rate of pay will be one-half the bi-weekly rate of pay to which the employee is entitled for their classification on the day immediately preceding the commencement of the adoption leave. In the case of a part-time employee, such weekly rate of pay will be multiplied by the fraction obtained from dividing the employee's time worked (as defined for the purpose of accumulating service) averaged over the preceding twenty-six (26) weeks by the regularly scheduled full-time hours of work for the Employee's classification.
- (d) Where an employee becomes eligible for a salary increment or pay increase during the benefit period, payments under the S.E.B. Plan will be adjusted accordingly.

(e) The Employer will not reimburse the employee for any amount they are required to remit to Human Resources Development Canada where their annual income exceeds one and one-half (1½) times the maximum yearly insurable earnings under the *Employment Insurance Act*.

### 20.08 Pregnancy/Birth and Parental and Adoption Leave Deferral

If an employee is entitled to pregnancy/birth or parental, or adoption leave and the child to whom the leave relates is hospitalized for a period exceeding or likely to exceed one week, the employee is entitled to return to and resume work and defer the unused portion of leave until the child is discharged from the hospital, upon giving the Employer reasonable notice.

### 20.09 Return to Work

An employee on pregnancy/birth or parental, or adoption leave must provide a minimum of four (4) weeks notice of their intended date to return to work, or such shorter period of notice as mutually agreed between the Employer and the employee. When a Regular employee reports for work upon the expiration of pregnancy/birth or parental, or adoption leave, the Regular employee shall resume work in the position held by the employee immediately before the leave began or where that position is eliminated in a comparable position within the site.

### 20.10 Service and Seniority Continuation

While on pregnancy/birth or parental, or adoption leave, an employee shall continue to accrue and accumulate service and seniority credits at the same rate as before the leave for the duration of the leave and the employee's service and seniority shall be deemed to be continuous.

### 20.11 Group Benefit Plan Continuation\*

While an employee is on pregnancy/birth or parental, or adoption leave, the Employer shall permit the employee to continue participation in eligible benefit plans. The Employer will cost share the benefits plan while the employee is being topped-up for the first 15 weeks by the Employer. After the top-up period ends the employee shall be responsible to pay both the Employer and the employee shares of the premium costs for maintaining such coverage for which the employee is eligible during the period of leave.

20.12 Special Leave - Birth

Where an employee's spouse gives birth to a child, the employee shall be granted special leave without loss of regular pay up to a maximum of fifteen (15) scheduled hours during the confinement of the mother. This leave may be divided into periods and granted on separate days.

#### 20.13 Special Leave - Adopted Child

Special leave with pay up to a maximum of fifteen (15) scheduled hours shall be granted to an employee when an adopted child arrives in the employee's home. This leave may be divided into periods and granted on separate days.

### **ARTICLE 21 - BEREAVEMENT LEAVE**

- 21.01 Employees shall be entitled to the following bereavement leave:
  - (a) When a death occurs in an employee's immediate family the employee will be granted five (5) consecutive calendar days immediately following the death without loss of regular pay. Immediate family means father, mother, husband, wife, grandparent or grandchild, common-law spouse, brother, sister, son, daughter, step-parents and foster parents, stepchild and foster child and mother-in-law and father-in-law of the employee. The employee may defer one or more of these bereavement leave days up to and including the day of the funeral or memorial service. Subject to operational requirements, where the death occurs during an employee's shift after the employee has reported to work, the employee will be granted the remainder of that shift off and their five (5) consecutive calendar day bereavement leave will commence on the following day.
  - (b) Employees shall be granted two (2) calendar days immediately following the death of the employee's son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law or sister-in-law, aunt, uncle, niece or nephew, or the grandparents of the spouse of the employee. If those days are scheduled days of work, the employee shall be granted those days off without loss of regular pay. The employee may defer one or both bereavement leave days until the day of the funeral or memorial service.
  - (c) Relationships referred to in Article 21.01 (a) and (b) will only be considered in cases where it is a current relationship at the time the benefit is claimed. For clarity, in Article 21.01 (a) and (b), "mother-in-law or father-in-law" means the parent of the employee's spouse, "brother-in-

law or sister-in-law" means the spouse of the employee's sibling and "niece" or "nephew" means a child of an employee's sibling and "aunt" or "uncle" means the sibling of an employee's father or mother.

- (d) An employee who wishes to defer bereavement leave days as provided in Article 21 (a) and (b) must give the Employer written notice of intention to do so at the time of the death.
- (e) Notwithstanding (c), above, an Employee shall, where requested, be granted one day, without pay, to attend the funeral of a family member who is no longer in a current family relationship. An Employee may elect that such bereavement leave be paid by charging the time to the Employee's accumulated vacation, accumulated holiday or accumulated overtime.
- 21.02 Employees on any leave of absence or other leave, except vacation are not eligible for bereavement leave.

### ARTICLE 22 - SICK LEAVE\*

- 22.01(a) Sick leave is an indemnity benefit and not an acquired right. An employee is entitled to receive sick leave with pay when the employee is unable to perform their duties and, provided proper medical certificates are presented to the Employer, upon request. An employee who is absent from a scheduled shift on approved sick leave shall only be entitled to sick leave pay if the employee is not otherwise receiving pay for that day, and provided the employee has sufficient sick leave credits.
  - (b) The Employer reserves the right to require any employee claiming paid sick leave to produce evidence of illness satisfactory to the Employer. Where the proof of illness provided is not acceptable to the Employer, the Employer will provide the names of three (3) alternate medical practitioners acceptable to the Employer.
  - (c) The Employer shall ensure that all medical information relating to an employee is maintained in a confidential manner.
- 22.02 Employees accumulate sick leave at the rate of twelve (12) hours per one hundred and seventy-three (173) regular hours paid, up to a maximum accumulation of one hundred and forty-four (144) hours in a calendar year and to a maximum accumulation of eight hundred (800) hours.

22.03 An employee is entitled to receive sick leave with pay provided the employee is unable to perform their duties in accordance with Article 22.01 and the employee satisfies the Employer of their condition in a manner and on whatever occasion as may be determined by the Employer and provided the employee has the necessary sick leave credits.

#### 22.04 Leave for Family Illness, Personal Medical and Dental Preventative Care

Employees with sufficient sick leave credits shall be allowed paid leave of absence of up to a total of forty (40) hours per annum (prorated for part-time employees based on the regular hours paid in the previous calendar year) debited against sick leave credits in order to:

- (a) engage in and facilitate the employee's personal preventative medical or dental care; provided that the employee has made every reasonable effort to schedule such care on scheduled days off or, where this is not possible, to schedule the care so as to minimize the amount of absent time required, or
- (b) attend to an illness or an accident affecting a member of the employee's immediately family (i.e. spouse, son, daughter or parent).
- 22.05 An employee is not entitled to receive sick leave when the employee is on vacation except as provided under Article 22.11, holiday, a leave of absence, workers' compensation or any other leave specified in this Agreement.
- 22.06 An employee may be denied sick leave if the employee fails to properly notify the Employer of their absence.
- 22.07 Sick leave not taken for one (1) full calendar year entitles full-time employees to one (1) paid day off during the following calendar year. Part-time employees shall be entitled to this benefit on a pro rata basis, based upon actual hours worked in the preceding calendar year. Such payment shall be deposited in the employee's lieu bank by April 1<sup>st</sup> following the year in which it was earned.
- 22.08 Where an employee is required to submit detailed medical certificates or reports (excluding routine medical certificates which may be required under Article 22.01), or where an examination is required, the Employer shall pay the employee's wages (on a straight time basis) and benefits for time spent in such examination and direct that the bill for such certificate, report or examination be forwarded directly to the Employer or, where such direct billing is not possible, the Employer shall reimburse the employee for the full costs of any such examinations, medical certification forms, or reports.

22.09 Employees who suffer a workplace injury for which Workers' Compensation benefits would otherwise be payable, shall suffer no loss of pay or benefits for the balance of the shift on which the injury occurred.

### 22.10 Workers' Compensation

- (a) In the event an employee is unable to work as a result of a compensable accident, the Employer will pay the employee sick leave to a maximum of that person's likely workers' compensation benefits if that person has sufficient sick leave credits. If the employee receives workers' compensation benefits, the employee shall immediately compensate the Employer for such payment and by doing so replenish the employee's sick leave bank to that extent.
- (b) Where an employee is compensated under the *Workers' Compensation Act*, the Employer shall pay a supplement equal to the difference between the earnings replacement benefit received from the Workers' Compensation Board and the employee's net pre-accident regular biweekly pay. It is the intent of the parties that in no circumstances shall the employee receive an increase in income as a result of this Article. When this supplement is being paid, the Employer shall deduct from the employee's sick leave credits an equivalent number of sick leave hours as were paid in the supplement. When an employee's sick leave credits are exhausted, the employee shall be paid only the Workers' Compensation Benefits Allowance.
- (c) The Employer shall maintain a record of reported injuries on duty in the employee's personnel file.
- (d) Subject to the eligibility requirements of the plans, employees shall continue to participate in the group insurance plan by contributing their share of the plan premiums for a period of six (6) months from the date of injury. Subject to eligibility requirements following expiration of this six (6) month period, employees may choose to continue to participate in the plan by paying one hundred percent (100%) of the premiums. Failure by the employee to pay their required premiums when due will result in cancellation of their participation in the plans.

### 22.11 Illness During Vacation

Where an employee becomes ill for three (3) days or more during a period of vacation, and that illness is supported by a medical certificate satisfactory to the Employer, the employee may, at their request, have the period of illness debited

against their accumulated sick leave credits and have the equivalent vacation leave credits reinstated.

### **ARTICLE 23 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD**

- 23.01 A newly hired employee shall be on probation for a period of at least four hundred eighty (480) hours actually worked from the employee's first day of employment or four (4) months, whichever is greater.
- 23.02 Probationary employees shall have no seniority rights during the probationary period.
- 23.03 At the conclusion of the probationary period, an employee's seniority will revert back to the employee's most recent date of hire and shall be calculated in the manner provided for in Article 1.01 (n) of this Agreement. Unless the Collective Agreement provides otherwise, a probationary employee shall be entitled to all rights and benefits under this Agreement.

### 23.04 Notice of Improvement Requirements

The Employer shall provide a probationary employee with input and feedback in order to give the probationary employee an opportunity to meet the appropriate expectations of their position.

# ARTICLE 24 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE

24.01 Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement, a probationary employee may be dismissed at any time by the Employer for any reason. The employee's access to the grievance or arbitration procedure with respect to the dismissal shall be restricted to the issue of whether the Employer's decision to terminate was arbitrary, discriminatory or in bad faith.

24.02 The Employer reserves the right to discipline, suspend or discharge employees for just cause.

- 24.03 An employee (and, at the employee's option, the Union Steward) shall have the right to review their personnel file, at a time mutually agreed upon by the Employer and the employee.
- 24.04 An employee has the right to have a Steward present when the Employer

communicates any disciplinary decision to the employee.

- 24.05 In the event that the Employer disciplines an employee, the employee shall be notified in writing of the disciplinary decision and a copy shall be provided to the Union. If this is not done, the disciplinary action taken shall not be void, but the time limits under Article 8 for commencing a grievance shall not commence until such written notice is given.
- 24.06 Records of disciplinary action will be removed from an employee's file and is not introduced as evidence in any subsequent proceeding against the employee, after a period of more than 2 years where the discipline is a written reprimand and three (3) years if the discipline is a suspension except where there have been intervening infractions of a similar nature by such employee.

### **ARTICLE 25 - NEW JOB CLASSIFICATIONS**

25.01 The rate of pay for any position in the Bargaining Unit not covered by Appendix "A" which may be established during the life of this Agreement, may be subject to discussions between the Employer and the Union within thirty (30) calendar days of the filling of the position. If the parties are unable to agree on the rate of pay for the new position, the rate set by the Employer shall remain in effect until a new Collective Agreement comes into force. Any rate agreed upon, or failing agreement, the rate set by the Employer, shall be retroactive to the employee's date of assuming the new position.

### ARTICLE 26 - BENEFIT PLANS

26.01 Group Health Benefit Plan

The Employer shall continue to cost-share premiums for coverage under the group health benefit plan including AD&D, life insurance, medical and dental coverage and LTD with those employees who are covered by the plan on the basis of 65% Employer paid and 35% employee paid.

26.02 Pension Plan

The Employer will continue to participate with employees in the NSHEPP Pension Plan. Subject to the eligibility provisions of the plan, it is a condition of employment that existing employees who are members of the plan shall remain members of this pension plan and that all new hires join and remain members of the pension plan.

### ARTICLE 27 - MISCELLANEOUS CONDITIONS\*

### 27.01 Notice of Resignation\*

If an employee decides to terminate employment, the employee shall give a letter of resignation to the Employer not less than four (4) weeks prior to the effective date of termination, provided however the Employer may accept a shorter period of notice.

- 27.02 The Employer shall provide a bulletin board accessible to employees upon which the Union may post notices of meetings and such other notices as may be of interest to the employees.
- 27.03 All correspondence between the parties relating to this Collective Agreement or incidental thereto shall pass to and from the Employer's Administrator and the Recording Secretary, or President of the Union, or their designate.
- 27.04 All such correspondence shall be sent by email, registered mail or hand delivered.
- 27.05 All provisions of this Agreement are subject to applicable laws now or hereafter in effect. If any law now existing or hereafter enacted invalidates or disallows any portion of this Agreement, the entire Agreement shall not be invalidated and the rest of the Agreement shall remain in effect.
- 27.06 The parties shall split the costs equally of any room rental and agreed joint meal expenses and refreshments incurred during collective bargaining.
- 27.07 Provision of Protective Clothing
  - (a) The Employer shall pay up to \$75.00 per year to maintenance staff and \$75.00 to dietary staff for safety footwear upon the presentation of a receipt for the purchase of same.
  - (b) The Employer will provide personal care gloves, protective aprons and other materials and equipment the Employer determines is needed to carry out job tasks.
- 27.08 Training and Upgrading

Except where new employees are required to undertake training at their own cost as a condition of their being hired, where the Employer requires an employee to take training or upgrading, the Employer shall pay the full cost of training or upgrading, including required materials/books. Time spent in such training or upgrading shall be considered time worked.

### **ARTICLE 28 – TWENTY-FIVE YEAR INCREMENT\***

28.01\* Upon completion of 25 years of service working with the Employer as a Registered Nurse or a Licensed Practical Nurse, all permanent Registered Nurses or Licensed Practical Nurses will receive an additional salary increment of 3.5%.

Placement on Increment Scale

- 28.02\* Any LPN or RN newly hired will have all years of experience counted towards their appointment on the placement of the increment scale of their classification.
- 28.03\* Any CCA newly hired will have all years of experience counted towards their appointment on the placement of the increment scale of their classification.

### **ARTICLE 29 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT\***

- 29.01\* Wages shall be effective on the dates specified in Appendix "A". Except where indicated otherwise herein, all other benefits and provisions (including new or altered premium provisions) of this Agreement shall be binding and remain in effect from November 1, 2021 until October 31, 2024 and thereafter from year to year unless or until either party gives written notice to bargain during the three (3) month period preceding the date of its termination.
- 29.02 Employees leaving the employ of the Employer prior to the signing of this Agreement shall be entitled to retroactivity upon giving the Employer written notice within thirty (30) days of the signing of this Agreement.

### **ARTICLE 30 - BENEFIT AND BINDING\***

This Agreement and everything herein shall ensure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto, their successors and assigns, respectively.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by the hands of their duly authorized officers and the affixation of their respective seals hereto the day and year first-above written.

DATED at Kentville, Nova Scotia, this we day of 2024. NOVA SCOTIA GOVERNMENT SIGNED, SEALED and DELIVERED AND GENERAL EMPLOYEES in the presence of: UNION, LOCAL 27 Per Per **EVERGREEN HOME FOR** SPECIAL CARE Per Per:

### APPENDIX "A" – WAGES

### EVERGREEN HOME FOR SPECIAL CARE AND NOVA SCOTIA GOVERNMENT AND GENERAL EMPLOYEES UNION, LOCAL 27

				% increase:	1.50%	% Increase:	1.50%	Wage Ad	justment	% Increase:	3.0%	% increase:	0.5%
Classification		Expired Hourly Rate	Expired Approx. Annual Rate	Nov.1-21 Hourly Rate	Nov.1-21 Approx. Annual Rate	Nov.1-22 Hourly Rate	Nov.1-22 Approx. Annual Rate	Nov.01-23 Hourly Rate	Nov.01-23 Approx. Annual Rate	Nov.01-23 Hourly Rate	Nov.01-23 Approx. Annual Rate	Oct.31-24 Hourly Rate	Oct.31-24 Approx. Annual Rate
Nutrition Services Worker Environmental Services Worker	Regular Rate	\$ 16.5528	\$ 34,430	16.8011	\$34,946	17.0531	\$35,470	\$17.9906	\$37,420	18.5303	\$38,543	18.6230	\$38,736

		_		_		% Increase:	1.50%	% increase:	1.50%	% Increase:	3.0%	% Increase:	0.5%
Classification			Expired ourly Rate	A	Expired Approx. nual Rate	Nov.1-21 Hourly Rate	Nov.1-21 Approx. Annual Rate	Nov.1-22 Hourly Rate	Nov.1-22 Approx. Annual Rate	Nov.01-23 Hourly Rate	Nov.01-23 Approx. Annual Rate	Oct.31-24 Hourly Rate	Oct.31-24 Approx. Annual Rate
Maintenance I	Regular Rate	\$	20.7199	\$	43,097	21.0307	\$43,744	21.3462	\$44,400	21.9866	\$45,732	22.0965	\$45,961
Maintenance II	Regular Rate	\$	21.3898	\$	44,491	21.7106	\$45,158	22.0363	\$45,836	22.6974	\$47,211	22.8109	\$47,447
Cook	Regular Rate	\$	20.7187	\$	43,095	21.0295	\$43,741	21.3449	\$44,397	21.9852	\$45,729	22.0951	\$45,958
Journeyman Cook	Regular Rate	\$	21.2629	\$	44,227	21.5818	\$44,890	21.9055	\$45,563	22.5627	\$46,930	22.6755	\$47,165

		_		_		% Increase:	1.5%	Wage Ac	ljustment	% Increase:	1.5%	% Increase:	3.0%	% Increase:	0.5%
Classification			Expired ourly Rate	Approx.		Nov.01-21 Hourly Rate	Nov.01-21 Approx. Annual Rate	Feb.10-22 Hourly Rate	Feb.10-22 Approx. Annual Rate	Nov.01-22 Hourly Rate	Nov.01-22 Approx. Annual Rate	Nov.01-23 Hourly Rate	Nov.01-23 Approx. Annual Rate	Oct.31-24 Hourly Rate	Oct.31-24 Approx. Annual Rate
Personal Care Worker /CCA ( with Course)	Start	\$	17.8416	\$	37,111	18.1092	\$37,667	\$21.4712	\$44,660	21.7933	\$45,330	22.4471	\$46,690	22.5593	\$46,923
Recreation Planner	After 1 Year	\$	18.2068	\$	37,858	18.4799	\$38,438	\$21.9096	\$45,572	22.2382	\$46,255	22.9053	\$47,643	23.0198	\$47,881
(with PCW/CCA Certificate)	After 2 Years	\$	18.5598	\$	38,605	18.8382	\$39,183	\$22.3567	\$46,502	22.6921	\$47,200	23.3729	\$48,616	23.4898	\$48,859
	After 3 Years	\$	18.9015	\$	39,326	19.1850	\$39,905	\$22.8130	\$47,451	23.1552	\$48,163	23.8499	\$49,608	23.9691	\$49,856
	After 4 Years	\$	19.2666	\$	40,072	19.5556	\$40,676	\$23.2784	\$48,419	23.6276	\$49,145	24.3364	\$50,620	24.4581	\$50,873

					% Increase:	1.50%	% Increase:	1.50%	% Increase:	3.0%	% Increase:	0.5%
Classification		Expired urly Rate	A	xpired pprox. nual Rate	Nov.1-21 Hourly Rate	Nov.1-21 Approx. Annual Rate	Nov.1-22 Hourly Rate	Nov.1-22 Approx. Annual Rate	Nov.01-23 Hourly Rate	Nov.01-23 Approx. Annual Rate	Oct.31-24 Hourly Rate	Oct.31-24 Approx. Annual Rate
Recreation Planner v/o PCW/CCA Certificate	Regular Rate	\$ 17.7200	\$	36,858	17.9858	\$37,410	18.2556	\$37,972	18.8033	\$39,111	18.8973	\$39,306
OT / PT Assistant	Start	\$ 19.5877	\$	40,743	19.8815	\$41,354	20.1797	\$41,974	20.7851	\$43,233	20.8890	\$43,449
	After 1 Year	\$ 20.1573	\$	41,927	20.4597	\$42,556	20.7666	\$43,195	21.3896	\$44,490	21.4965	\$44,713
	After 2 Years	\$ 20.7663	\$	43,194	21.0778	\$43,842	21.3940	\$44,500	22.0358	\$45,834	22.1460	\$46,064
	After 3 Years	\$ 21.4785	\$	44,676	21.8007	\$45,345	22.1277	\$46,026	22.7915	\$47,406	22.9055	\$47,643
	After 4 Years	\$ 22.1398	\$	46,051	22.4719	\$46,742	22.8090	\$47,443	23.4933	\$48,866	23.6108	\$49,110
Physio Aide with LPN Certification	Regular Rate	\$ 24.0171	\$	49,956	24.3774	\$50,705	24.7431	\$51,466	25.4854	\$53,010	25.6128	\$53,275

November 1	2021- Octobe	r 31.	2024
		_	

			_		% Increase:	1.50%	% Increase:	1.50%	% increase:	3.0%	% Increase:	0.5%
Classification		Expired Hourly Rate	Ap	pired oprox. ual Rate	Nov.1-21 Hourly Rate	Nov.1-21 Approx. Annual Rate	Nov.1-22 Hourly Rate	Nov.1-22 Approx. Annual Rate	Nov.01-23 Hourly Rate	Nov.01-23 Approx. Annual Rate	Oct.31-24 Hourly Rate	Oct.31-24 Approx. Annual Rate
RN	Start	\$ 33.7787	\$	70,260	34.2854	\$71,314	34.7997	\$72,383	35.8437	\$74,555	36.0229	\$74,928
	After 1 Year	\$ 34.6781	\$	72,130	35.1983	\$73,212	35.7263	\$74,311	36.7981	\$76,540	36.9821	\$76,923
	After 2 Years	\$ 35.7051	\$	74,267	36.2407	\$75,381	36.7843	\$76,511	37.8878	\$78,807	38.0772	\$79,201
	After 3 Years	\$ 36.8604	\$	76,670	37.4133	\$77,820	37.9745	\$78,987	39.1137	\$81,357	39.3093	\$81,763
	After 4 Years	\$ 38.1458	\$	79,343	38.7180	\$80,533	39.2988	\$81,742	40.4778	\$84,194	40.6802	\$84,615
	After 5 Years	\$ 39.4753	\$	82,109	40.0674	\$83,340	40.6684	\$84,590	41.8885	\$87,128	42.0979	\$87,564
	After 25 Years	\$ 40.8567	\$	84,982	41.4696	\$86,257	42.0916	\$87,551	43.3543	\$90,177	43.5711	\$90,628

		 			% Increase:	1.50%	% Increase:	1.50%	% increase:	3.0%	% Increase:	0.5%
Classification		Expired ourly Rate	A	xpired pprox. wal Rate	Nov.1-21 Hourly Rate	Nov.1-21 Approx. Annual Rate	Nov.1-22 Hourly Rate	Nov.1-22 Approx. Annual Rate	Nov.01-23 Hourly Rate	Nov.01-23 Approx. Annual Rate	Oct.31-24 Hourly Rate	Oct.31-24 Approx. Annual Rate
LPN	Start	\$ 26.5564	\$	55,237	26.9547	\$56,066	27.3590	\$56,907	28.1798	\$58,614	28.3207	\$58,907
	After 1 Year	\$ 27.1647	\$	56,503	27.5722	\$57,350	27.9858	\$58,210	28.8254	\$59,957	28.9695	\$60,257
	After 2 Years	\$ 27.7522	\$	57,725	28.1685	\$58,590	28.5910	\$59,469	29.4487	\$61,253	29.5959	\$61,559
	After 3 Years	\$ 28.5211	\$	59,324	28.9489	\$60,214	29.3831	\$61,117	30.2646	\$62,950	30.4159	\$63,265
	After 25Years	\$ 29.5193	\$	61,400	\$ 29.9621	\$62,321	\$ 30.4115	\$63,256	\$ 31.3239	\$65,154	\$ 31.4805	\$65,479

### APPENDIX "B" PART-TIME EMPLOYEES - AVAILABILITY FORM

### Evergreen NSGEU Collective Agreement

Name: \_\_\_\_\_ Dept: \_\_\_\_\_

Position:

Article 15.12 (b) requires each Part-Time Employee to indicate their availability and willingness to perform extra shifts for the Employer. Please complete the following and enter the number of Additional shifts and Relief Shifts where applicable.

A. My designated shifts are \_\_\_\_\_ per pay period.

B. I am willing and available to work \_\_\_\_\_\_Additional Scheduled Shifts per pay period.

Total Designated Shifts plus Available Additional Shifts per pay period equal A plus B

C. (Yes or No) After the posted schedule I am available for Relief Shifts.

If you are interested in working relief shifts but you have restrictions on your availability, please discuss these restrictions with your Department Head or Designate\_who will determine whether the Employer will accommodate these restrictions.

I understand my Employer can assign me to work the hours set out in Sections A, and B, at straight time rates except where overtime is required as per Article 15.12(a).

A Part-Time Employee is permitted to submit a revised Availability Form indicating availability by March 1<sup>st</sup> (for April to June); by June 1<sup>st</sup> (for July to September); by September 1<sup>st</sup> (for October to December); and by December 1<sup>st</sup> (for January to March). A revised Part-Time Employee Availability Form may be submitted more often where mutually agreed with the Employer. Such agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Changes to availability will not be abused.

Employee

Date

Employer

Date

56

### APPENDIX "C"\* EDUCATION PREMIUMS\*

A Registered Nurse (hereafter "Nurse") who is qualified for more than one education premium shall only receive the highest education premium for which the Nurse qualifies in Group A. A Nurse may also qualify for a premium in Group B. A Nurse may also qualify for either or both of the premiums in Group C.

Education premiums shall be pro-rated for Part-Time based on regular hours paid. That is to say that the annual amount will be divided by 2080 hours and will be payable on each bi-weekly pay based on regular hours paid which shall include the straight time hourly equivalent of overtime hours worked to a maximum of the Education Premium entitlement for a Full-Time Position.

### EDUCATION PREMIUMS - GROUP A

(a) Post-Graduate Program (Between 450 hours and 900 hours)

Upon the Employer's receipt of proof of a Nurse's successful completion of a recognized program which has been established by the Nurse to be a minimum of 450 hours (as per the official course description which may include course hours, lab hours, clinical hours and/or independent study hours) and where the course content is directly related to the Nurse's position, the following premium will be added to the Nurse's regular annual rate of pay:

- three hundred thirty-three dollars (\$333.00)
- (b) Post-Graduate Program (In excess of 900 hours)

Upon the Employer's receipt of proof of a Nurse's successful completion of a recognized program which has been established by the Nurse to be in excess of 900 hours (as per the official course description which may include course hours, lab hours, clinical hours and/or independent study hours) and where the course content is directly related to the Nurse's position, the following premium will be added to the Nurse's regular annual rate of pay:

- six hundred sixty-seven dollars (\$667.00)
- (c) B.N. or B.Sc.N.

For any Registered Nurse in the Bargaining Unit who holds a B.N. or B.Sc.N, the following premium will be added to the Nurse's regular annual rate of pay:

- one thousand four hundred forty-five dollars (\$1,445.00)
- (d) Masters Degree in Nursing

For any Registered Nurse in the Bargaining Unit who holds a Masters Degree in Nursing, the following premium will be added to the Nurse's regular annual rate of pay:

• one thousand nine hundred sixty-one dollars (\$1,961.00)

# CANADIAN NURSE ASSOCIATION CERTIFICATION PREMIUM - GROUP B

The following premium will be added to the regular annual pay for any Nurse in the Bargaining Unit who is in receipt of a current certification under the Canadian Nurse Association Certification program and who is employed in a capacity utilizing this training, who submits proof of the certification to the Employer, payable each year the certification is current:

• nine hundred ninety-six dollars (\$996.00)

## NURSING PRACTICE AND NURSING LEADERSHIP PREMIUMS - GROUP C

Nursing Practice and Nursing Leadership premiums are intended to recognize and encourage Nursing leadership activities and are provided as an alternative to former "Special Units".

To be eligible for either premium a Nurse must earn seventy (70) points for the Nursing Practice Premium and sixty (60) points for the Nursing Leadership Premium points by participating in Employer approved activities. The initial list of these activities along with the relative weight for each is included in this Appendix for illustrative purposes. It is understood that these initial lists are not exhaustive but will guide the Employer in determining relative point values for other approved activities.

In order for a Nurse to qualify for either premium they must attain the required points based on the relative weights assigned to the approved activities. The Nurse must maintain a record of recognized educational or leadership activities completed in the previous 12-month period. The Nurse must submit written proof of these activities to the Employer by October 31<sup>st</sup> each year.

A Nurse who qualifies for either premium shall be paid an annual supplement of \$850.00 each and shall then be paid as a lump sum payment by December 15 in the year to Nurses who achieve the eligibility for them in accordance with Appendix "B'. They shall be prorated for Part-time and Casual Nurses based on regular hours worked in the previous 12-month period from November 1<sup>st</sup> to the prior October 31<sup>st</sup> for the year of eligibility.

A Nurse may qualify for one of the current education premiums, the new CNA premium and either or both of the new Nursing Practice and Nursing Leadership Premiums.

# NURSING PRACTICE PREMIUM – GROUP C

(For illustrative Purposes)

CERTIFICATION IN A SPECIALTY (25 points) Defined course of study/evaluation Not covered by a premium E.g., Infection Control, Palliative Care, OH&S, Gerontological Nursing, Continuing Care Certificate, PLAR Assessor Course

COURSE IN A SPECIALTY (20 points) Evaluation/Recertification National/International standards E.g. Alzheimer's Disease & Related Dementia Care Course, PIECES, CIM

COURSE IN A SPECIALTY (15 points) Internally/Externally developed E.g. Gerontological Courses, Foot Care, Assessment of Frail Elderly

COURSE IN A GENERAL SKILL/THEORY (10 points) E.g. Non-violent crisis intervention, Documentation, Communication, Information Technology

COURSE IN PROFESSIONAL/PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT (10 points) E.g. Leadership course, Preceptorship course

WORKSHOP OR CONFERENCE IN A SPECIALTY OR SPECIFIC SKILL/THEORY (10 points)

WORKSHOP OR CONFERENCE IN PROFESSIONAL/PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT (10 points)

INSERVICE/FACILITY BASED EDUCATION SESSIONS (5 points) E.g. Lunch and Learn, Journal Club, Ethics Rounds

E-LEARNING (5 points) E.g. Telehealth, public domain modules

### NURSING LEADERSHIP PREMIUM – GROUP C (For illustrative Purposes)

### CATEGORIES:

Committee/Task Force Involvement (for Hospital District Province Union. Professional Organization or Association Agency

Chair of a committee/task force that meets 9-12 times per year (20 points) Member of a committee/task force that meets 9-12 times per year (15 points) Chair of a committee/task force that meets 4-6 times per year (15 points) Member of a committee/task force that meets 4-6 times per year (10 points) Chair of a committee/task force that meets 1-3 times per year (10 points) Member of a committee/task force that meets 1-3 times per year (5 points) *Telehealth Coordinator* 

### Professional Association Involvement

Maintains an active membership in a Professional Association Special Interest Group (e.g., Canadian Association of Gerontological Nurses; Canadian Association of Occupational Health Nurses, Canadian Hospital Infection Control Association etc)

Holds office in a professional nursing organization or special interest: with subheadings for National, Provincial or Local level and further subdivided to recognize if you are President vs. a Member of the Executive.

	President	Executive	Member
National	25 points	20 points	10 points
Provincial/Local	20 points	15 points	10 points

### Publications/Presentations

Publication in a peer-reviewed professional journal or textbook (25 points) Publication in a non-peer-reviewed journal (e.g., hospital newsletter, local paper, or publication) (10 points) Speaker at a National Conference (25 points) Speaker at a Provincial Conference (20 points) Speaker at a Local Conference (20 points) Speaker at a *facility*-based inservice session (10 points) Poster Board Presenter at a National Conference (20 points) Poster Board Presenter at a Provincial Conference (15 points) Poster Board Presenter at a Local Conference (15 Points) Poster Board Presenter at a *facility*-based Conference (10 points)

### Research

Primary Investigator as part of a multi-site study (25 points) Co-Investigator as part of a multi-site study (20 points) Primary Investigator of a *facility*/unit-based research study (15 points) Co-Investigator of a *facility*/unit-based research study (10 points) Develops a unit specific research proposal (5 points) Conducts a literature review as part of a research study (5 points)

### Education

Enrolled in PhD Program (minimally taking 2 courses per year) (25 points) Enrolled in Masters Program (minimally taking 2 courses per year) (20 points) Enrolled in Degree Program (minimally taking 2 courses per year) (15 points) Instructor-Level Status for designated courses (e.g., BCLS, PIECES, ARDCC, etc.) (10 points)

### Unit Resource/Skill/Content Expert Person

Provides support/expertise/oversight for education, skills and information needed by colleagues (e.g., is a content expert for implementation of medication reconciliation project, elder-friendly, Resident-centered care, Wound and Palliative Care) (20 points)

### Accepts Additional Leadership Responsibilities

Project lead for new product evaluation (10 points) Researches /benchmarks new procedures (5 points) Develops/revises a new policy or procedure (5 points) Serves as a preceptor 1-3 months per year (15 points) Serves as a preceptor 4-6 months per year (25 points) Instructs a designated course at least once per year (10 points)

### **Special Projects**

Involved in a planned endeavour designed and implemented to address a resident, nursing, facility, or community health care concern or need. (e.g., QI project to improve resident outcomes) (10 - 20 points depending on scope of project.

### MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT\* LPN Practice Premium\*

LPN Practice Premiums are offered to qualifying LPNs. These premiums are intended to recognize and encourage practice activities.

The first payment for this LPN Practice Premium will be on June 15, 2020.

To be eligible for a premium for a twelve (12) month period commencing April 1, 2019 and April 1<sup>st</sup> of each year thereafter, an LPN must earn seventy (70) points by participating in Employer approved activities.

This premium shall be paid in full in a lump sum commencing on June 15, 2020 and each year thereafter to LPNs who achieve eligibility for them in accordance with this MOA.

In order for an LPN to qualify, they must obtain the required points based on the relative weights assigned to the approved activities. The LPN must maintain a record of recognized practice activities completed in the previous 12-month period. The LPN must submit written proof of these activities on the form provided to the Employer by May 1, 2020 and by May 1<sup>st</sup> each year thereafter. The premium shall be effective following proof for the twelve (12) month period from April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020 and from April 1 to the following March 31 thereafter.

The premium shall be prorated for part-time and casual LPNs based on the regular hours paid in the twelve (12) month period from the previous April 1, to March for the year of eligibility.

In order to qualify for this premium, an LPN must claim points in at least two categories. An LPN who qualifies for the premium shall be paid an annual supplement of \$850.

### EXPLANATION OF LPN PRACTICE PREMIUM CATEGORIES

### POINTS CLAIMED MUST COME FROM A MINUMUM OF TWO CATEGORIES

Practice premiums are intended to recognize the additional "value added" education the LPN is either required to take because of the location or service in which they works or may choose to take voluntarily regardless of the location or service which they work. Orientation education DOES NOT qualify towards this premium.

### A. CERTIFICATION IN A SPECIALTY (40 POINTS)

This is defined as a course of study which includes an evaluation component and which leads to a specialty certification status/or specialty certificate for the LPN.

These points can only be claimed in the year the certification is awarded.

# B. COURSE IN A SPECIALTY Requiring an evaluation component (20 POINTS)

This is defined as a course in a nursing specialty for which there is a required evaluation component to "pass." These points can only be claimed in the year the course is taken. For those courses that require re-certification, 5 points for subsequent years while the course certification remains valid.

# C. COURSE IN A SPECIALTY Not requiring an evaluation component (15 OR 10 POINTS)

This is defined as a course in a nursing specialty that may be internally or externally developed but does not include an evaluation component. Although the LPN may receive a certificate of completion/attendance for taking such a course, the LPN is not considered "certified." Attendance or completion of such a course may only be claimed in the year in which it was taken (i.e. one time only). If the course is a minimum of 3.5 hours in duration, the LPN will receive 10 points. If the course is a minimum of 7.5 hours in duration the LPN will receive 15 points.

### D. COURSE, WORKSHOP or CONFERENCE in a GENERAL or SPECIALTY SKILL/THEORY or PROFESSIONAL/PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT (15 OR 10 POINTS)

This is defined as a course or attendance at a learning session, workshop or conference that may or may not be directly nursing-related but the skills/theory are applicable to the nursing practice environment in which the LPN works. If the course or workshop is a minimum of 3.5 hours in duration, the LPN will receive 10 points. If the course or workshop is a minimum of 7.5 hours in duration the LPN will receive 15 points.

# E. INSERVICE/HOSPITAL BASED EDUCATION SESSIONS (5 POINTS)

This category is applicable when the LPN attends an education event which is minimally 1 hour in duration and may be considered an "in-service" either scheduled or ad hoc in nature.

If the learning is required to fulfill the LPN's role or if it is a general employee expectation, the points cannot be claimed.

### F. E-LEARNING (5 POINTS)

There are many examples of learning delivered via electronic education modules that may be hospital developed or they may be offered through the public domain. The LPN must provide proof of having participated and completed the modules. The e-learning must be a minimum of one (1) hour in duration (estimated time of completion); however, the LPN may accumulate time from several e-learning modules to obtain the one (1) hour requirement.

If the learning is required to fulfill the LPN's role or if it is a general employee expectation, the points cannot be claimed.

\_\_\_\_ this <u>/8</u>day of\_\_ entrille . 2024. Dated at

Signed on Behalf of Evergreen Home for Special Care

auff

Signed on Behalf of Nova Spotia Government and General Employees Union

Mar

### MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT\* LPN Change of Shift Schedule/Department Assignment\*

### **Evergreen Home for Special Care** And Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union, Local 27

WHEREAS it is an operational requirement of the Employer that there be sufficient LPN staffing coverage for both the Seniors' and the Children's Departments;

AND WHEREAS the parties acknowledge and agree that this requirement is not always being met;

THEREFORE in order to meet this operational requirement the parties agree as follows:

The Employer shall request expressions of interest from current LPNs to work 1. and be assigned to shifts in both the Seniors' and Children's Departments regardless of their current assignments;

In the event that after the calling of expressions of interest referred to in 2. paragraph I of this Memorandum of Agreement there is not sufficient LPN staffing to fill shifts in either the Seniors' Department or the Children's Department, the Employer may assign LPNs in reverse order of seniority from one department to the other in order to fill the shifts regardless of their current assignment;

All new hire LPNs will be required to work and will be assigned to shifts in both 3. the Seniors' and Children's Departments.

The Employer will provide these LPNs with such departmental orientation as 4. deemed appropriate on an individual basis, with time spent at orientation paid at the regular rate of pay.

Dated at Manhalle this 18th day of April \_\_\_\_, 2024.

Maymild

Signed on Behalf of Evergreen Home for Special Care

Signed on Behalf of Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union

## MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT\* CCA and PCW Change of Shift Schedule/Department Assignment\*

## Evergreen Home for Special Care And Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union, Local 27

**WHEREAS** it is an operational requirement of the Employer that there be sufficient CCA and PCW staffing coverage for both the Seniors' and the Children's Departments;

**AND WHEREAS** the parties acknowledge and agree that this requirement is not always being met;

THEREFORE in order to meet this operational requirement the parties agree as follows:

1. The Employer shall request expressions of interest from current CCAs and PCWs to work and be assigned to shifts in both the Seniors' and Children's Departments regardless of their current assignments;

2. In the event that after the calling of expressions of interest referred to in paragraph I of this Memorandum of Agreement there is not sufficient CCA and PCW staffing to fill shifts in either the Seniors' Department or the Children's Department, the Employer may assign CCAs and PCWs in reverse order of seniority from one department to the other in order to fill the shifts regardless of their current assignment;

3. All new hire CCAs and PCWs will be required to work and will be assigned to shifts in both the Seniors' and Children's Departments.

4. The Employer will provide these CCAs and PCWs with such departmental orientation as deemed appropriate on an individual basis, with time spent at orientation paid at the regular rate of pay.

Dated at <u>Kentriele</u> this <u>18th</u> day of <u>April</u>, 2024.

Signed on Behalf of Evergreen Home for Special Care

Dertim

Signed on Behalf of Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union

Ma amark Fandia V